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THE EARLY HISTORY OF YELLOWSTONE
NATIONAL PARK

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,
Washington, May 11, 1932.
To THE DIRECTOR OF THE NATIONAL PARK SERVICE.

SIr: As a part of the study of national park policies which I have been
making in cooperation with your Service by direction of the Secretary, I have,
at your suggestion, made considerable study of the early history of Yellow-
stone National Park. This study has to do chiefly with the early exploration,
the passage of the act of March 1, 1872, authorizing the park, and the pro-
tracted and constant struggle for its proper administration, protection, and
development,

During that period of time, there was fought out in the Congress of the
United States and gradually crystallized in the Nation that fairly definite
code of policies which now obtainsg in the administration of the national parks
and monuments under your charge. The history of the first quarter century
of Yellowstone National Park is in fact the history of the development of our
present national park policies.

Some of these policies are so universally concurred in that it does not
occur to us now that they ever could have been questioned. Others, not so
universally accepted, have become thoroughly established as our national
policy in connection with the areas under your administration through the
trials of Yellowstone. Among these policies may be noted the following:

1. That the Federal Government may, under proper circumstances, itself
undertake the administration of a reservation of land “ dedicated and set apart
as a public park or pleasuring ground for the benefit and enjoyment of the
people.” It is true that in 1872 this region was a part of the public domain
of the United States within certain of its Territories and, therefore, the question
of turning it over t{o a State for administration was not at that time directly
an fssue. That course had been followed a few years previously in the case
of Yosemite, and the brief debate in the Senate January 80, 1872, in connection
with the passage of the Yellowstone bill shows that the experiment of turning
great scenic regions over to the State for administration was not deemed
successful. The merit of Yellowstone as a park project and its outstanding
importance did much to establish a general policy of Federal control in such
cases. After the Territories concerned became States, demand for transfer of
control to the States could, as to Yellowstone, make no headway.

2. The twin purposes of such a reservation are the enjoyment and use by the
present, with preservation unspoiled for the future. The act of March 1, 1872,
set the area apart as a “ pleasuring ground for the benefit and enjoyment of
the people,” and at the same time required *the preservation, from injury or
spoliation of all timber, mineral deposits, natural curiosities or wonders within
said park and their retention in their natural eondition.” There has never
been any serious controversy in Congress concerning the wisdom of each of
these.
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2 EARLY HISTORY OF YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK

3. The parks are to be administered primarily for the enjoyment of the people.
The early and long continued contest concerning leases and concessions in the
park has always revolved around the determination of Congress that the wel-
fare of the visitor shall be the first consideration in park administration.

4. Enjoyment of these areas shall be free to the people. The preface to
Dunraven’s “ Great Divide ” voices protest against the fee system universal in
Europe which was securing widespread foothold in the United States and
popular appreciation of a nonfee system in national parks.

The park came into being within a few years after the close of the Civil
War when the national debt was large, taxation was onerous, and economy
in Federal expenditures was necessary. Very soon came panic and years of
depression. But at no time was there any proposal for adoption of a fee
system in Yellowstone. AIll the debate stressed the idea that this wondrous
land be free to the public. At first there was the theory that revenues from
leases of needed utilities would be sufficient for the development and mainte-
nance of the park. But as it became clear that this would not be the case and
the needs became understood, the policy of appropriations fromr the Federal
Treasury began, 1878, and has never been seriously challenged.

5. Administrative responsibility shall be civil rather than military. The act
of March 1 provides, “ Said public park shall be under the exclusive control
of the Secretary of the Interior.”

With negligible appropriations and resulting lack of administration, attended
by alarming reports of game destruction and park spoliations, Congress in
1883 directed the Secretary of War, upon the request of the Secretary of
the Interior, to make necessary details of troops for park protection. It was
also provided that the construction of roads should be under the supervision amd
direction of an engineer officer detailed by the Secretary of War. In 1886 the
appropriation for the park carried the provision that thereafter a company
of cavalry should be stationed there for the protection of the park and elimi-
nated any appropriation for civilian administration. Complete transfer of the
administration to the War Department was proposed in bills introduced and
in congressional debates. Because of the presence of troops on the frontier
and the need for economy in Federal expenditures this same military adminis-
tration continued for some years, but at no time did the complete transfer
of the administration to the War Department make any headway in Congress.
Eventually Congress eliminated the military protection and became definitely
committed to civilian administration and civilian protection.

6. The welfare of the public and the best interests of the park visitors are
conserved by protective permits for needed utilities. In the early days there
was much fear, probably well-founded, that some monopoly would secure leases
of land at strategic points which would enable them to hold up the public.
No feature of park administration has had the amount of debate in Congress
that there has been about Yellowstone leases. Through the insistence of
Congress that the welfare of the visitor be the first consideration and through
gradual growth of understanding of the necessities of the situation, the policy
of protective permits with Government control of rates, service, and the extent
and character of improvements has been developed.

7. The park area is to constitute a game preserve and not a hunting reserva-
tion. When the bill was under consideration in the Senate, it being observed
that the destruction of game and fish for gain or profit was forbidden, Senator
Anthony urged that * Sportsmen going over there with their guns” were not
wanted, that the park ought not be used as preserve for sporting. Senator
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Tipton urged a prohibition against their destruction for any purpose. They
were satisfied with assurance that hunting would not be permitted, and that
policy has remained unquestioned.

8. No commercial enterprise in a park is to be permitted except so far as
is essential to the care and comfort of park visitors.

9. The natlonal interest shall be supreme in the park area, and encreach- -
ments for local benefit shall not be permitted. The fight to maintain and
establish this policy in Yellowstone was spectacular with well-financed and
influential private interests supported by some official sanction determined to
secure a right-of-way in the park area for a railroad connection, ostensibly for
mining development, but actually, in considerable degree at least, for specula-
tive purposes. Failing to secure such a right-of-way, the effort was made to
eliminate from the park the area involved, in return adding to the park much
larger areas desired elsewhere. For years the House was amenable to the
desires of these private interests, and the Senate was the stronghold of
opposition under the leadership of Senator Vest. It is interesting to note how
in this critical period so many men of the greatest caliber in the Senate rallied
to defense of the public interests. And when the Senate lost hope and was
prepared to accept the inevitable the House reversed its attitude. Finally the
time came that any railroad right-of-way proposal or park segregation scheme
brought definite adverse report from congressional committees. The disin-
tegration of natfonal park arefs to meet local demands has been made im-
Possible through the struggles that revolved around the Yellowstone.

10. Recreation is an essential purpose of park use even though secondary
or incidental. The Yellowstone act sets the area aside as “a pleasuring
ground for the benefit and enjoyment of the people.” Senator Pomeroy in
urging the bill in the Senate said, January 28, 1872, that it was proposed to
“consecrate and set apart this great place of national resort, as it may be in
the future, for the purposes of public enjoyment.” ‘The park then being 500
miles from any railroad and its nearest railroad point so remote from
centers of population under existing modes of travel, it is surprising that any
large park travel could have been at that time anticipated.

The Montana Legislature, in its memorial in 1872, asked that this area *“ be
dedicated to public use, resort, and recreation.” The Hallett Phillips report
which had much influence with Congress in 1886 said the first object accom-
plished by Congress in the establishment of the park was “a pleasuring ground
for the benefit and enjoyment of the people.” Preservation of these areas for
scientific study, or for the enjoyment of the esthetic taste in looking upon the
beauties of nature, or the preservation of the great species of game from ex-
termination, or the protection of an important watershed, are all purposes that
have had congressional support. But the simple idea of the common people
going to these regions and enjoying themselves, recreation, has always had
strong appeal to Congress.

11. “In a national park the national laws and regulations should be en-
forced by a national tribunal.” These are the words of Joseph Medill, the
great publisher, and was his verdict after he had observed at first hand the
workings of the attempt to enforce laws of the State of Wyoming through
local officials in the Yellowstone., When the park was created its nearest
boundary was 140 miles from the nearest civil anthority. The country loudly
demanded park protection, but Congress was loath to give substantial appro-
priations. Finally the State of Wyoming passed a law specifying offenses and
punishments, and its enforcement was attempted. The best legal authorities
questioned any such authority in the State, and the effort was abandoned.
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Vest fought for years to secure an enactment of needed legislation pre-
seribing offenses with penalties therefor and sought a Federal organization to
administer the park. Because of the deadlock which ensued as to rallroad and
boundary legislation the needed park legislation was not secured until 1804,
when the Lacey Act became effective, May 7, 1804. This act followed debate
and controversy of a score of years. It declares that the Yellowstone National
Park shall be under the sole and exclusive jurisdiction of the United States;
that the park, although portions of it are in Montana and Idaho, shall con-
stitute a part of the United States judicial district of Wyoming and the
district and circuit courts of the United States shall have jurisdiction of all
offenses committed within the park; that any offense committed which is not
punishable by Federal law shall be subject to the punishment provided by the
law of Wyoming; that the United States circuit court shall appoint a com-
missioner who shall reside in the park and try persons charged with offenses
in the park, an appeal being possible from his decision to the Federal court;
that one or more deputy marshals may be appointed to reside in the park, but
that arrests may be made by any officer or employee in the park of any person
taken in the act. This whole structure of Federal control through existing
Federal courts supplemented by a resident commissioner was worked out
after 20 years of debate. Once enacted, its wisdom is generally accepted. )

12. In the national parks nature is to be preserved and protected and not
improved. The act of March 1 requires “ retention in their natural condition.”
The report of the subcommittee of the committee on appropriations by Repre-
sentative Holman in 1886 reads: “The park should so far as possible be
spared the vandalism of improvement. Its great and only charms are in the
display of wonderful sources of nature, the ever varying beauty of the rugged
landscape, and the sublimity of the scenery. Art can not embellish these.”

The above are the principal policies of a legislative character, or affected by
legislative influences, which now govern in our park system. I have no doubt
that many of our present policies and practices of a more purely administrative
character in vogue to-day in various parks were likewise evolved through
experience in Yellowstone.

I have no doubt a study of the leglslative history of the Yellowstone from
1897 to date would also be of interest. The fundamentals, however, having
been developed in the first quarter-century, it does not seem desirable for me
to take the additional time necessary to bring the study down to date.

The accompanying report does not attempt any study of the geological or
other scientific or scenic aspects of the park.

Accompanying the report is an epitomized legislative chronology down to
1897. There is also a Yellowstone bibliography. In the latter there has been no
attempt to cover the field of references having to do with the seclentific or the
purely descriptive.

There has been no attempt to do more in the accompanying report than to
assemble facts for reference use. As Chittenden’s “ Yellowstone ” is so generally
available in the Service I have treated more briefly subjects covered therein.

Sincerely yours,
Lours C. CRAMTON,
Special Attorney to the Secretary.
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EARLY EXPLORATIONS

That John Colter, a soldier with the Lewis and Clark expedition, was the
first white person to visit the region now known as Yellowstone National Park
seems well authenticated. He secured his discharge from the expedition on its
return journey in 1806 to join a band of trappers, and his work for these men
brought about his adventures in the Yellowstone region. Chittenden devotes a
chapter to John Colter in his book, “ The Yellowstone National Park,”

NILES REGISTER LETTER, 1827

Probably the earliest publication of a description of Yellowstone Lake and
the hot springs appears in Niles Register for October 6, 1827. This description
occurs in a letter from a trapper or trader, which is dated July 8, 1827. The
Niles Register credits the article “ Phil. Gaz” On inquiry of the Library Co.
of Philadelphia, I am informed that this article appeared in the Philadelphia
Gazette of September 27, 1827. The letter is as follows:

‘ FROM THE WEST

“ SweeT LAKE, July 8, 1827.

* Shortly after writing to you last year I took my departure for the Black-
foot country much against my will, but I could not make a party for any other
route. We took a northerly directlon about 50 miles, where we crossed Snake
River, or the South Fork of Columbia, at the forks of Henrys and Lewis; at
this place we were daily harassed by the Blackfeet; from thence we went
up Henrys or North Fork which bears north of east 30 miles and crossed
a large rugged mountain which separates the two forks; from thence east
up the other fork to its source, which heads on the top of the great ehain
of Rocky Mountaing which separates the waters of the Atlantic from those
of the Pacific. At or near this place heads the Luchkadee or California Stick-
ing Fork, Yellowstone South Fork of Maswri, and Henrys Fork, all those
head at one angular point; that of the Yellowstone has a large fregh-water
lake near its head on the very top of the mountain, which is about 100 by
40 miles in diameter, and as clear as crystal. On the south border of this
lake is a number of hot and boiling springs, some of water and others of
most beautiful fine clay, resembling a mush pot, and throwing particles to
the immense height of from 20 to 30 feet. The clay is of a white, and of a
pink color, and the water appears fathomless as it appears to be entirely hollow
underneath. There is also a number of places where pure sulphur is sent
forth in abundance. One of our men visited one of these whilst taking his
recreation—there at an instant the earth began a tremendous trembling, and
he with difficulty made his escape, when an explosion took place resembling
that of thunder. During our stay in that quarter I heard it every day. From
this place by a circuitous route to the northwest we returned. Two others
and myself pushed on in advance for the purpose of accumulating a few more
beaver, and in the act of passing through a narrow confine in the mountain, we
were met plump in the face by a large party of Blackfeet Indians, who not
knowing our number fled into the mountain in confusion; we retired to a
small grove of willows; here we made every preparation for battle after
which finding our enemy as much alarmed as ourselves we mounted our horses,
which were heavily loaded, and took the back retreat. The Indians raised
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a tremendous yell, showered down from the mountain top, and almost cut
off our retreat. We here put whip to our horses and they pursued us in close
quarters until we reached the plains, when we left them behind: On this
trip one man was closely fired on by a party of Blackfeet; several others were
closely pursued.

“On this trip I lost 1 horse by accident, and the last spring 2 by the
Utaws, who killed 8 for the purpose of eating them, 1 of which was a
favorite buffalo horse. This loss can not be computed at less than $450.
A few days previous to my arrival at this place, a party of about 120 Blackfeet
approached the camp and killed a Snake Indian and his squaw. The alarm
was immediately given and the Snakes, Utaws, and whites sallied forth for
battle. The enemy fled to the mountain to a small concavity thickly grown with
small timber surrounded by open ground. In this engagement the squaws
were busily engaged in throwing up batteries and dragging off the dead. There
were only six whites engaged in this battle, who immediately advanced within
pistol shot and you may be assured that almost every shot counted one. The
loss of the Snakes was 3 Kkilled and the same number wounded; that of
the whites, 1 wounded and 2 narrowly made their escape; that of the Utaws
was none, though they gained great applause for their bravery. The loss of
the enemy is not known—six were found dead on the ground; a great number
besides were carried off on horses. To-morrow I depart for the West.”

There is good evidence that Joseph Meek visited this region in 1829. * The
River of the West,” written by Mrs. Frances Fuller Victor, is in reality his
biography, and written while he was still living. This book was copyrighted
in 1869 and a copy of it is now in the rare book section of the Library of
Congress, Therein is found the description of the hot springs region quoted
on page 34 of Chittenden’s work. Meek was later a member of the Oregon
Legislature in 1846, and in 1848 was appointed United States marshal.

JIM BRIDGER

James Bridger, the noted hunter and scout, is clearly shown to have visited
the region at various times from 1830 on, and his reports, although not gen-
erally credited, did contribute materially to later bringing about actual
exploration.

Lieut. J. W. Gunnison, “ of the topographical engineers,” wrote a small his-
tory of the Mormons which was copyrighted September 28, 1852. Therein
we find on page 151 the following:

“ The builder of Fort Bridger is one of the hardy race of mountain trappers
who are now disappearing from the continent, being inclosed in the wave
of civilization. These trappers have made a thousand fortunes for eastern
men, and by their improvidence have nothing for themselves. Major Bridger,
or ‘old Jim,” has been more wise of late, and laid aside a competence; but
the mountain tastes, fostered by 28 years of exciting scenes, will probably
keep him there for life. He has been very active, and traversed the region
from the headwaters of the Missouri to the Del Norte and along the Gila to
the Gulf, and thence throughout Oregon and the interior of California. His
graphic sketches are delightful romances. With a buffalo skin and piece
of charcoal, he will map out any portion of this immense region, and delineate
mountains, streams, and the circular valleys called ‘holes,” with wonderful
accuracy; at least we may so speak of that portion we traversed after his
descriptions were given. He gives a picture, most romantic and enticing,
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of the headwaters of the Yellowstone. A lake 60 miles long, cold and pellucid,
lies emhosomed amid high precipitous mountains. On the west side is a
sloping plain several miles wide, with clumps of trees and groves of pine.
The ground resounds to the tread of horses. Geysers spout up 70 feet high,
with a terrific hissing noise, at regular intervals. Waterfalls are sparkling,
leaping, and thundering down the precipices, and collect in the pool below.
The river issues from this lake, and for 15 miles roars through the perpendicu-
lar canyon at the outlet. In this section are the Great Springs, so hot that
meat is readily cooked in them, and as they descend on the successive terraces,
afford at length delightful baths. On the other side is an acid spring, which
gushes out in a river torrent; and below is a cave which supplies ‘ vermilion’
for the savages in abundance. Bear, elk, deer, wolf, and fox are among the
sporting game, and the feathered tribe yields its share for variety, on the
sportsman’s table of rock or turf.”

Mr. James Gerumell claimed that in 1846 he went with Jim Bridger on a
trading expedition to the Crows and Sioux; that they went up the Green
River, camped near the Three Tetons and followed a trail of the Divide
between the Snake River and the streams which flow north into Yellowstone
Lake, He said, “ We camped for a time near the west arm of the lake and
here Bridger promised to show me the wonderful spouting springs at the
head of the Madison.” He stated they visited the Upper and Lower Geyser
Basins and Mammoth Hot Springs and went down the Yellowstone {o Bensons
Landing. This is related by Wm. F. Wheeler, former United States marshal
for Montana, in his article on Gemmell in volume 2, Montana Historical
Society, page 331.

In Volume III of Scribner's Dictionary of American Biography Bridger is
given dignified consideration, the following statement being included:

“ With the sole exception of a few Mormon contemporaries, everyone of the
scores of ploneers, army men, explorers, and sportsmen with whom he came
in contact, mentions his services, his intelligence, and his character in the
highest terms. Tall, keen eyed and of commanding personality, this completely
illiterate frontiersman placed at the disposal of a multitnde of varied western
travelers his unrivaled knowledge of the country and the Indian,”

He retired in 1868. In 1873, Bridger wrote Gen. B. F. Butler, then Membe1
of Congress from Massachusetts: “ You are probably aware that I am one of the
earliest and oldest explorers and trappers of the Great West now alive. Many
years prior to the Mexican War, the time Fort Bridger, with adjoining terri-
tories became the property of the United States, and for 10 years thereafter
(1857) I was in peaceable possession of my old trading post, Fort Bridger,
occupied it as such and resided thereat.” (See H. Rept. 1576, June 4, 1892,
52d Cong. Ist sess.)

FATHER DR SMET, 1851

Father Plerre-Jean De Smet, a Jesuit missionary, traveled extensively in
the West in the.course of his missionary labors among the Indians. A
4-volume edition of his life, letters, and travels, edited from his original
manusecripts by Maj. H. M. Chittenden and Alfred T. Richardson, was published
by Harper’s in 1905. His description of thig region, which he had visited in
1851, is found in his letter of January 20, 1852, guoted by Chittenden in his
“ Yellowstone National Park” and set forth on pages 660 and 661 of the De
Smet work. De Smet credited Bridger’s knowledge of this country, as is shown
by his reference to Bridger's reports in quotation above referred to.
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BONNEVILLE

In volume 1, Montana Historical Society, published in 1876, appears a letter
from General Bonneville, answering some inquiry which had been made of him
concerning his 1832 travels in the Yellowstone region. He says “ You ask me
if T know of the thermal springs and geysers. Not personally, but my men
knew about them and called their location the ‘fire hole’ I recollect the
name of Alvarez; I think he came to the mountains as I was leaving them.”

There are more or less definite reports of visits to this region by various
hunters and trappers, traders and miners, who have, however, left no real
report of what they saw. :

CAPTAIN RAYNOLDS, 1880

In 1860, Capt. W. F. Raynolds, of the Corps of Topographical Engineers of the
Army, made the first Government expedition directed to the Yellowtsone Park
region. Raynolds had graduated from West Point in 1843 number 5 in the class
in which U, 8. Grant was number 21, The personnel of that party tied up the
past and the future, as it inclnded as guide Jim Bridger and as geologlst
Dr. ¥, V. Hayden. The Chittenden work on the park devotes a chapter to this
expedition, which failed to accomplish its purpose because of the natural
obstacles in the way. His report was published in 1867 as Senate Executive
Document 77 of the Fortieth Congress, first session. The delay in its publi-
cation was due, no doubt, to the Civil War. His map was, however, available
earler.

THE STUART PARTY, 1863

In 1863 an unofficial expedition was organized with Capt. James Stuart as
its chosen leader “to explore a portion of the country drained by the Yellow-
stone for the purpose of digcovering gold mines and securing town sites.”
Samuel T, Hauser, later to be a member of the Washburn party, was a
member of the Stuart expedition. This expedition indirectly resulted in the
discovery of Alder Gulch, the rich gold mining region. William Fairweather and
several others who had planned to go with Stuart’s party were delayed a few
days. While they were trying to overtake the party they were attacked and
plundered by Crows and forced to turn back. On their return trip the Fair-
weather party were in camp when one of the party made the Alder Gulch
discovery. Alder Gulch was the beginning of Virginia City.

The Stuart party encountered terrific hardships. May 13, 1863, they were
attacked by Indians and suffered losses. Hauser had a miraculous escape from
death, being struck in the left breast by a bullet which passed through a thick
memorandum book in his shirt pocket and was stopped against a rib over his
heart. They had coustant Indian difficulties. They traveled 1,800 miles from
the time they left Bannack City (the town resulting from Grasshopper
Diggings), April 9, until their return on June 22, the last 1,200 miles without
tents or a change of clothes. For over 400 miles they seem to have been
constantly followed by hostile Indians. See the James Stuart diary report
of this trip, page 149, of volume 1, Montana Historical Society, which earries
extensive notes by Hauser and by Granville Stuart.

WALTER W. DE LACEY, 1863

Two months later another prospecting expedition, simply an aggregation of
men looking for gold, headed up the South Snake River. There were originally
over 40 in the party, and they promptly elected as their captain Walter Wash-
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ington De Lacey. He was, no doubt, the best fitted leader, as he was an engi-
neer and a man of capacity, but he says the only man in the party who knew
him wasg the man who proposed him. Chittenden gives several pages to this
expedition. The report of it was first published by De Lacey in “A Trip up the
Snake River in 1863 at page 113 of volume 1, Montana Historical Society
(1878). De Lacy and 14 of the original party were, he says, “the first to
ascend to the headwaters of the South Snake River, and thence passed over
to the head of the Madison and West Gallatin Rivers, the geographical results
of which were published.” They discovered the lake called by him “ De Lacey
Lake " and now Shoshone Lake, and also the Lower Geyser Basin of the Yellow-
stone Park. They saw “ the white, outlying spurs of the Teton Range” August
24, and the next day entered Jackson Hole. They prospected Gros Ventre Creek
and September 2 came to the lake he named “ De Lacey Lake,” later carried as
such on his maps and on Colonel Ludlow’s 1875 map, but which Hayden called
“ Shoshone Lake.” He says further: “ On the 9th we continued our journey;
and after traveling 3 miles, descended the mountain side into an open country.
In another mile we reached the head of a small stream, the water of which was
hot, and soon entered a valley or basin, through which the stream meandered,
and which was occupied on every side by hot springs. They were so thick and
close that we had to dismount and lead our horses, winding in and out between
them as best we could. The ground sounded hollow beneath our feet. We were
in great fear of breaking through and proceeded with great caution. The water
of these springs was intensely hot, of a beautiful ultramarine blue, some bolling
up in the middle, and many of them of very large size, being at least 20 feet in
diameter and as deep. There were hundreds of these springs, and in the
distance we could see and hear others, which would eject a column of steam
with a loud noise. These were probably geysers, and the boys called them
¢ steamboat springs.’ No one in the company had ever seen or heard of any-
thing like this region, and we were all delighted with what we saw. This was
what was afterwards called the ‘ Lower Geyser Basin’ of the Madison by Pro-
fessor Hayden.” They went on down the Madison, reached the West Gallatin,
and were back to Virginia City September 23, 1863, being absent 51 days and
having traveled 500 miles.

While he did not publish any report of his expedition until 1876, he made
a reference to it in a letter which he addressed to Prof. A. K. Eaton for use
in Raymond’s “ Mining Resources West of the Rocky Mountaing.,” Hig letter
was probably written in November, 1868, and Raymond’s report was published
by Congress January 21, 1869, as House Executive Document No. 54 of the
Fortieth Congress, third session. In giving information about possible routes
for the Northern Pacific, and also for a branch of the Union Pacific, Professor
Eaton gives, “the following letter from Capt. W. W. De Lacey, who from his
ability as an engineer, as well as his long experience in the Territory, is entitled
to the confidence of all.” In this letter De Lacey said: “I am well acquainted
with the South Snake River, which I explored from its mouth to its head in
1863 * * *. The river heads in a large lake some 12 or 15 miles long, and
flows into another large lake called ‘ Jackson’s Lake’ of about the same length.
At the head of the South Snake and also on the south fork of the Madison,
there are hundreds of hot springs, many of which are ‘geysers.'”

De Lacey was well educated and a man of standing. Born in Virginia in
1819 he was privately tutored at West Point by Professor Mahan and had a
wide experience. {(See brief biography by William F. Wheeler in Vol. II,
Montana Historical Society; also in Scribner’s Dictionary of American Biog-
raphy.) He died in 1892,
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Chittenden says: “ De Lacey might have passed into history as the real dis-
coverer of the Yellowstone but for the fact that he failed to appreciate the
true importance of what he saw.” He certainly did not attempt to capitalize
what he had seen, except as a map maker. It needs to be remembered,
however, that 1863 was much earlier than 1870. Montana, as a Territory, was
not yet in existence; there was no Helena Herald; in fact, no newspaper; no
settlements except hasty mining camps; no telegraph to the outside world,
and the outside world had its attention turned to the Civil War. There was no
paper to seek a report from De Lacey and spread it to the Nation ; no audience
to hear lectures; no Jay Cooke to use him for railroad-financing propaganda.

But De Lacey was experienced in map making, and his knowledge was recog-
nized by the people of Montana. The first legislature of the pew Territory,
meeting in the winter of 1864-63, engaged De Lacey to make a map of the
Territory, for the purpose of laying off counties. In this map he embodied the
knowledge he had acquired.

In 1870 a map of Montana, drawn by him, was published by Colton Bros., of
New York. In making this map he marks the route of the Folsom-Cook expedi-
tion, showing he had contacted with them.

Henry Gannett wrote (1878) : “ The first authentic information regarding the
great natural wonders of the park was derived from a prospecting party under
the leadership of W. W. De Lacey, who in 1863 visited the Lower Geyser Basin.”

THE FOLSOM-COOK EXPEDITION OF 1869

The first real exploring expedition in the Yellowstone Park region, of which
anything like a complete and authentic report is preserved, was that of David
E. Folsom and C. W. Cook and William Peterson, the latter being an employee
of Folsom on his ranch. This expedition was entirely unofficial, and, while
Folsom, who headed it, was a man of standing, integrity, and capacity, he
feared to give general publicity to his story, even among Montana people, not
expecting to be believed. He did write up the trip and offered it for publica-

wtion, but was turned down by eastern magazines, such as Lippincott’s, with the
reply that they did not publish fiction. His article finally was published in the
Western Monthly, of Chicago, in their July, 1870, issue, and so is preserved to us,
although essential parts were deleted by the editors. No national movement or
interest resulted directly from the Folsom-Cook expedition. His personal re-
ports to Hauser, Langford, Washburn, and others at Helena seem to have been
accepted by them, and no doubt had much to do with their determination to
make their expedition the following year. Langford says in his “ Vigilante
Days,” that the information secured from Folsom led to the organization of the
Washburn exploring expedition in August, 1870.

Folsom, Langford, and Hauser had come to Montana together with the first
Fisk expedition, headed for the Salmon River gold fields, arriving at Fort
Benton in June, 1862. Hauser went on to Gold Creek where he arrived in
August, 1862, and Langford to Grasshopper Creek, later called Bannack., At
the time of the Yellowstone expedition Folsom was 31. He was considered a
good surveyor. He was later county surveyor, county treasurer, State senator,
and member of the commission that built the State capitol at Helena. He was
the Republican nominee for Governor of Montana in 1900,

Charles W. Cook had reached Montana in 1864.

Expecting a military escort, a party was made up in 1869 for exploration of
the Yellowstone region. Disappointed in securing the military escort, and with
humerous ramors of Indian hostilities, all of the party lost their desire to go
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except Folsom, Cook, and Peferson. The attempting of this difficult and dan-
gerous expedition by these three men, without escort, and their complete success,
should give to this expedition more prominence than it has heretofore had.

This is especially true since it was clearly from thig expedition of 1869 that
the first suggestion for a national park to preserve these wonders resulted. In
his preface to “ The Folsom-Cook Exploration of the Upper Yellowstone in the
Year 1869,” published by him in 1894, Nathaniel P. Langford says:

“ Before we left Helena Mr, Folsom furnished us with a map showing his
route of travel and imparted to us much valuable information, and, as we after-
wards learned, discussed with General Washburn the project of creating a park,
but I do not find that he ever published through the press his views on this
subject.”

In a note to the third revision of Chittenden’s work, page 73, is the statement :

“In the manuscript of his article in the Western Monthly was a reference to
the park idea; but the publishers cut out a large part of his paper, giving only
the descriptions of the natural wonders, and this reference was cut out with the
rest.”

While Folsom did not bave the position or the contacts to enable him to ad-
vance the park idea nationally, or the technical talent in his party to give weight
nationally to the report of the discoveries by his party, the fact remains that
the Folsom-Cook expedition was the first definitely intended exploration of the
Yellowstone National Park region; that his publication in the Western Monthly
in July, 1870, was the first publication of such a report; and that he was the
first to suggest that this wonderful region be set aside as a public park.

The publicationv of the report in the July, 1870, issue of the Western Monthly,
published by the Lakeside Publishing Co., of Chicago, is entitled “ The Valley
of the Upper Yellowstone by C. W. Cook.” (See Appendix D.) In 1894
Nathanijel P. Langford republished this article under the title “The Folsom-
Cook Exploration of the Upper Yellowstone in the year 1869, by David E.
Folsom.” Every reference to the article, except the signature in the Western
Monthly, speaks of it as having been written by Folsom, and Director Albright
informs me that Mr. Cook told him that the article was written by Folsom,
In his introduction to hig book * Discovery of Yellowstone Park, 1870,” con-
taining his own diary during that expedition, Mr, Langford says:

“ The office of the Western Monthly was destroyed by fire before the copies
of the magazine containing Mr. Folsom’s article were distributed and the
gingle copy which Mr. Folsom possessed, and which he presented to the His-
torical Society of Montana, met a like fate in the great Helena fire. The copy
whieh I possessed and which I afterwards presented to that society, is doubtless
the only original copy now in existence.”

In this Mr. Langford is slightly confused. The Yolsom article, as above
stated, appeared in the July, 1870, number of the Western Monthly, and the
fire did not occur until September. The regular edition of the Western
Monthly for July was therefore distributed and appears in the bound copy of
volume 4, covering July to December, 1870, which I have referred to in the
Library of Congress. The surplus of the edition, however, was destroyed in
the great fire, which came a few weeks later, so that when demand for the
Folsom account was increased after the return of the Washburn expedition
in September, 1870, the publishers could not supply it. In the bound copy
referred to at the Library of Congress has been included a slip headed “ Hx-
planation,” and which reads in part as follows:

“ The great fire which consumed the Drake and Farwell Building on Wabash
Avenue, on the 4th of September last, destroyed the printing office in which



12  EARLY HISTORY OF YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK

the Western Monthly was published. The October number of the magazine
was at that time nearly completed, and—manuscripts, proof sheets, matter in
type, and stereotype plates—was entirely destroyed. * * * It is believed
that the readers of the magazine will be satisfied with this explanation of the
reason why the October number did not reach them.”

In the spring of 1873 Superintendent Langford, with the approval of the
Department, appeinted Mr. Folsom assistant superintendent of the park, both
Langford and Folsom serving without pay.

THE WASHBURN-DOANE EXPEDITION OF 1870

In 1870 followed the Washburn-Doane expedition. This was promoted pri
marily by Col. Samuel T. Hauser, a civil engineer and president of the First
National Bank of Helena, heretofore referred to, and by Nathaniel P. Langford,
each of whom had in the spring of 1870 appealed to General Hancock for mili-
tary escort for the Yellowstone exploration party. Both were leading citizens
of the new Territory. Hauser, who was a native of Kentucky, was a former
vigilante and was later appointed governor of the Territory by President
Cleveland,

Langford was a native of New York, and in 1864 was made collector of
internal revenue for the new Territory. In 1868 he had been appointed
governor of the Territory, by President Andrew Johnson, but due to relations
between the President and the Senate, his nomination wasg not confirmed. He
was collector of internal revenue from 1864 to 1868. He was one of the famous
Montana vigilantes and later published a 2-volume work concerning them.
For a long time he was national bank examiner in Montana. He spent his
later years in Minnesota. The Helena Herald of November 16, 1870, contains
a 2-column masonic address by him.

This was only a few years after the vigilante days of 1863 and 1864 in Mon-
tana, and in that trying time Hauser and Langford had played notable parts.
Dimsdale (ch. 46 of his Vigilantes of Montana) says, “ N. P. Langford wasg an
especial object of hatred” to the outlaw element. And in Chapter IX Dims-
dale tells of a trip to the States at that time and of the plan of the outlaw leader
Plummer to Kkill them en route, first giving to Hauser a woolen scarf to wear on
the trip and thus make identification sure; and how Hauser and Langford, their
suspicions aroused, rode all one night with guns loaded and cocked; and their
escape because of Langford’s unusual vigilance. In his own * Vigilante Days,”
Langford says he was “ early marked for summary retaliation.”

Hauser looms very large in the early history of Montana. He joined with
others in building the first furnace in Montana for reducing silver ore, opened
coal mines, built the toll road and telegraph line from Virginia City to the
mouth of the Yellowstone, built telegraph line to Salt Lake, organized national
banks at Virginia City in 18635, Helena in 1866, Missoula in 1873, and Butte in
1878, built railroad from Helena to Butte and was interested in Northern
Pacific, was first to see possibilities of water power in the Northwest and con-
structed high tension line to Butte, planned the first reclamation project in the
State and was the first to engage in large scale stock raising. He was a bene-
factor of pioneer ministers and an enthusiastic student of early Montana his-
tory. He married a grandniece of George Rogers Clark.

Gen. Henry D. Washburn had a few months before come to Montana under
appointment as surveyor-general of Montana. He had enlisted as a private,
been elected captain and won his commission as a major general in the Civil
War, and served two terms in Congress from 1866 to March 8, 1869. He
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declined reelection presumably because of his health. He became interested
in the expedition and was chosen its head.

Judge Cornelius Hedges was another member. Born in Westfield, Mass.,
October 28, 1831, he graduated from Yale in 1853. That class inecluded also
Andrew D. White, Wayne McVeagh, Justice Shiras, and the poet Stedman,
He later graduated from the Harvard Law School, migrated to Independence,
Towa, then taught in Southington, Conn., in the Sally Lewis Academy from
1861 to 1863. He practiced law and edited a newspaper in Independence, Iowa,
from 1868 to April, 1864, when he left for the Bannack mines in Montana Ter-
ritory. He also was active in opposition to Plummer and the road agents;
he mined in Highland Gulch and came to Last Chance, the mining gulch which
was the beginning of the settlement of Helena, in January, 1865. He mined
and practiced law at Helena, The winter of 1866 he spent with his family in
New England and in the spring of 1867 brought his family and a stamp mill to
Helena, where he lived thereafter. He was United States district attorney
for Montana in 1871 and 1872. He wag grand secretary of the Masons of
Montana from 1874 until his death. He was judge of probate from 1875 to
1880 and from 1872 to 1877 Territorial superintendent of public schools. In
1874 he was the Republican candidate for Delegate in Congress and was a mem-
ber of the Territorial Constitutional Convention in 1884 and of the first State
sendte in 1889. He was Republican nominee for United States Senate in 1899.
For years he was an editorial staff writer on the Helena Herald. He edited
the reports of the Montana Supreme Court from 1872 to 1878, led in establish-
ing the public library in Helena, and was recording secretary and later presi-
dent of the Montana State Historical Society and president of the Montana
State Pioneers. He died April 29, 1907,

Another member of the party was Truman C. Everts, who had been assessor
of internal revenue from July 16, 1864, to February 17, 1870. He was the
member who became separated from the party and was lost, encountering ter-
rible hardships as set forth in hig article “ Thirty-seven Days of Peril,” which
was published in November, 1871, in Scribner’s and later in the Contributions
of the Montana Historical Society.

Other members of the party were Warren C. Gillett and Benjamin Stick-
ney, pioneer merchants, also Walter Trumbull, assistant assessor of internal
revenue, and a son of United States Senator Lyman Trumbull of Illinois.
Trumbull was later the special correspondent of the Helena Daily Herald, who
traveled with William H. Clagett, Republican candidate, in his sucecessful cam-
paign for election as Delegate in Congress in 1871,

The remaining member of the party, Jacob Smith, seems chiefly noted for
his willingness to sleep while on guard duty, and to permit anyone elge to
stand guard in his place.

While it was a private expedition, it was very natural that, made up of
some of the most influential citizens and officials of the Territory, headed by
the surveyor general of the Territory, a former major general and Congress-
man, the request for military escort should be granted. But see Sheridan dis-
cussion later. Lieut. G. C. Doane was designated, with one sergeant and four
privates, ‘“ to escort the surveyor general of Montana to the falls and lakes
of the Yellowstone and return.” 'The soldiers in the party were Sergt. William
Baker and Pvts. John Williamson, George W. McConnell, William Leitner, and
Charles Moore. Moore and Walter Trumbull made drawings of various scenic
wonders, Moore making the first picture of Yellowstone Falls,

Ljeutenant Doane was a very fortunate selection to command the military
escort. His report to Gen, Winfield S. Hancock is very likely the finest account

128209°—32——2
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of the trip presented by any member of the party so far as the general reader
is concerned. Doector Hayden in his preliminary report, a year later, refers
to “the remarkable report of this young officer, which he seems to have writ-
ten under the inspiration of the wonderful physical phenomena around him.”
He further states it as his opinion “that for graphic descriptions and thrilling
interest it has not been surpassed by any official report made to our Govern-
ment since the time of Lewis and Clark.,” This report was submitted by Lieu-
tenant Doane under date of December 15, 1870. It was transmitted by Gen-
eral Hancock to General Sherman to the Secretary of War to the Senate, March
8, 1871, and printed as Executive Document No. 51 of the Forty-first Congress,
third session. (See Appendix M herein.) His power of beautiful and graphic
description is fllustrated in the following description of the middle canyon of
the Yellowstone, which they visited August 26, 1870:

“We kept the Yellowstone to our left, and finding the canyon impassable
passed over several high spurs coming down from the mountains, over which
the way was much obstructed by falling timber, and reached, at an elevation
of 7,331 feet, an immense rolling plateau extending as far as the eye could
reach. This elevated scope of country is about 30 miles in extent, with a gen-
eral declivity to the northward, Its surface is an undulated prairie dotted with
groves of pine and aspen. Numerous lakes are scattered throughout its whole
extent, and great numbers of springs, which flow down the slopes and are lost
in the volume of the Yellowstone. The river breaks through this plateau in
a winding and impassable canyon of trachyte lava over 2,000 feet in depth; the
middle canyon of the Yellowstone, rolling over volcanic bowlders in some
places, and in others forming still pools of seemingly fathomless depth. At one
point it dashes here and there, lashed to a white foam, upon its rocky bed;
at another it subsides into a crystal mirror wherever a deep basin occurs
in the channel. Numerous small cascades are seen tumbling from the lofty
summits a mere ribbon of foam in the immeasurable distance below. This
huge abyss, through walls of flinty lava, has not been worn away by the waters,
for no trace of fluvial agency is left upon the rocks; it is a cleft in the strata
brought about by volcanic action plainly shown by that irregular structure
which gives such a ragged appearance to all such igneous formations. Standing
on the brink of the chasm the heavy roaring of the imprisoned river comes to
the ear only in a sort of bollow, hungry growl, scarcely audible from the
depths, and strongly suggestive of demons in torment below. Lofty pines on
the bank of the stream ‘dwindle to shrubs in dizziness of distance.” Every-
thing beneath has a weird and deceptive appearance. 'The water does not look
like water, but like oil. Numerous fishhawks are seen busily plying their voca-
tion, sailing high above the waters, and yet a thousand feet below the specta-
tor. In the clefts of the rocks, hundreds of feet down, bald eagles have their
eyries, from which we can see them swooping still further into the depths
to rob the ospreys of their hard-earned trout. It is grand, gloomy, and ter-
rible; a solitude peopled with fantastic ideas; an empire of shadows and of
turmoil.”

Immediately on return of the party there had been several newspaper stories
by Washburn, Langford, Hedges, and Trumbull, but the publication of the
Doane report in March, 1871, was the first official Government account of
exploration of the Yellowstone Park region. Doane was later to accompany
the Hayden party of 1871 during the greater part of their exploration, and in
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1875 guided Secretary of War Belknap and Gen. W. E. Strong. His report
is especially remarkable since he was suffering exeruciating physical pain
from a felon on the thumb of his right hand during the greater part of the
exploration, finally securing relief through a crude surgical operation per-
formed by Langford. .

This party left Helena August 17, 1870, and returned late in September,

The Helena Daily Herald of September 26, 1870, devoted column 1 of page
1 to the first published report of the Washburn expedition under this heading:
*The Yellowstone Expedition—Interesting Data of the Trip, from Notes Fur-
nished by Hon. N. P. Lapgford.” It was at the same time announced to be
the intention of Mr. Langford to prepare for publication a detailed report of
“this most interesting portion of the country, where in a space so circum-
scribed are presented at ence the wonders of Iceland, Italy, and South America.”
And on page 3 of that issue is the announcement that “ Hon. N. P. Langford of
the Yellowstone expedition arrived last night. He came from Virginia on the
coach.” On page 3 also of that same issue of the Herald is the following:

* ARRIVAL OF TWO OF THE EXPEDITIONERS

“Gen. D. H. Washburn and Col. 8. T. Hauser of the Yellowstone expedition
arrived this morning about 11 o’'clock. Cornelius Hedges and Jake Smith are
back with the train and will not reach Helena before to-morrow night. We
saw one of the party only—Colonel Hauser—but had no time to interview him.
We were glad to see the Colenel looking so well after the hardships and trials
of the 6 weeks’ campaign in the mountains and valleys of the Yellowstone.
He is much improved in his personal appearance, and as he rode into Main
Street he was the very impersonation of a prepossessing and gallant cavalier.
Elsewhere in the Herald we give our readers some of the incidents of the trip,
the results of their observation, etc. We expect to be able to give a full and
complete account of the expedition in a few days.”

The following day, September 27, the Herald carried a 2-column article
signed by H. D. W. headed: “ The Yellowstone Expedition. Explorations in a
New and Wonderful Country. Description of the Great Falls of the Yellow-
stone, Volcanic Eruptions, Spouting Geysers, etc., from the Notes of Hon. H. D.
Washburn, Surveyor General of Montana.”

In the September 28 issue of the Herald followed a second installment by
Washburn which included the naming of Old Faithful and other geysers.

These Washburn articles were republished in Mining Statistics West of the
Rocky Mountains, March 21, 1871. (H. Ex. Doc. 10, 42d Cong., 1st £€88.)

The very keen local interest in the results of the expedition was testified
to by the following announcement which appeared at the top of column 1, page
1, of the Herald for September 30:

“THP YELLOWSTONE EXPEDITION—UNPRECEDENTED DEMAND FOR THE HERALD

“Having entirely eshausted the extra editions hoth of the Daily and Weekly
Herald containing the admirable reports of Gen. H. D. Washburn and Hon.
N. P. Langford, of the Yellowstone expedition, who have made their special
and invaluable contributions to our columns, we to-day reproduced the articles
of both these gentlemen and print a large number extra of the paper to supply
the partial demand. Copies of the daily containing both reports in full can be
bad of Stickney or Ward or at the Herald counting room.”
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The Langford and Washburn artlcles were accordingly reprinted in that
issue of September 30, 1870, of the Herald. (See Appendices E and F.)

The Herald of October 3 mentions the return of Warren C. Gillett to
Helena.

The loss of one member of the party, Truman C. Everts, while it caused
the party great distress and inconvenience, added materially to the public
interest in the expedition and its results. The news was wired all over the
country, as was his eventual return, and did much to advertise the expedition
throughout the country. In the October 6 Herald, Judge Lawrence offered a
reward of $600 for the recovery of Hverts. It appears from the nofe of
thanks later written Judge Lawrence by Everts that others contributed to
this fund, although Judge Lawrence took the lead. As a result of this reward
offer, George Pritchard and John Baronett started out to look for Everts and
announced their purpose “ to remain until the deep snows of winter drive them
back unless they shall have succeeded in finding the lost man before that.”
They found him October 18, which was 37 days from the time he was lost.
October 23 the Herald has an article, two-thirds of a column, on The Long
Lost Found. October 28 the Herald has on page 1 a single-column letter
written by 8. W. Langhorne from Bozeman, headed “The Lost and Found.”
In this article Langhorne alleges that Everts in his period of greatest ex-
haustion had delusions, thinking that different parts of his body were different
men, his right hand one man, his left hand another, and so with his feet and
legs, stomach, etc.,, and quotes him as having wondered why these different
men didn’t do the things he told them to. However, in the same issue of the
Herald, on page 8, is a little 3-inch note of thanks from Everts to Judge
Lawrence in which he asked the Judge * to believe no stories of my having been
deranged,” because of his sufferings from exhaustion. November 5 Mr, Everts
returned to Helena from Bozeman. In hig own account of his wanderings
later published he confesses that his mind was in a condition * to receive impres-
sions akin to imsanity ” and induiged in * strange reveries.” He gives credit
for his final rescue to what he calls “ one of those strange hallucinations which
many of my friends have misnamed insanity, but which to me was Providence.”
So that evidently the Langhorne letter had full authority for its report of
hallucinations. Secretary Dixon informs me that Langhorne was a man of
standing and worthy of credit. The Herald of November 14, 1870, gives a full
account of “ The Yellowstone Banquet,” which was tendered in honor of Everts,
November 12, by other members of the party. All members of the party were
present, except Lieutenant Doane, and the press was represented by Major
Magionis (later Delegate to Congress) for the Gazette and Capt. R. E. Fisk
for the Herald.

In the Herald for Qctober 8 appears a full-column letter by Cornelius Hedges
on Mount Everts, its climb, and its naming. In this he pays high tribute to
BEverts, at that time supposed to be dead. Hedges followed this on QOctober 15
with an article, “ The Great Falls of the Yellowstone—A Graphic Picture of
Their Grandeur and Beauty ”; on October 19, “ Hell Broth Springs ”; on October
24, “ Sulphur Mountain and Mud Volcano ”; and on November 9, “ Yellowstone
Lake.,” (See Appendices G, H, 1, J, and K.)

These Helena Herald articles were secured through the courtesy of the
Library of Congress and the Helena Publie Library.

That these well written and bighly interesting accounts of what they had
seen, written by various members of the party, attracted wide interest in the
country and were immediately copied.generally by the press, is testified to in the
Helena Herald of October 1 where it i stated:
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“ Our exchanges, East and West, are Just now reaching us, containing copious
extracts from the Herald’s Yellowstone reports. These contributions from our
corps of correspondents have proved, as we rightly predicted, of unusual interest,
not alone to Montanans but to the reading public throughout the country. The
Herald is everywhere complimented for the enterprise it has exhibited in placing
before the world these excellent and reliable reports, descriptions as they are,
of a section of country unequaled in nature’s wonders by any other portion
of the globe.” .

How generally these articles were reprinted or commented upon I have not
attempted to verify. Appendix L is copy of an editorial in the New York Times
of October 14, 1870. This publication is especially interesting, showing such
early interest in national-park matters by a newspaper that is now an out-
standing defender of proper national-park standards.

A special correspondent writing from the St. James Hotel in Washington,
November 1, in a letter which appears in the Helena Herald of November 14,
1870, says:

“The Yellowstone expedition of which we have been so fully and graphically
informed through the columns of the Herald has from the first excited a deep
interest here and throughout the East, while the news of the final recovery of
Mr. Everts, as copied from the Herald into all of the papers of this city yester-
day, sent a thrill of sympathetic joy through the entire community. The won-
derful discoveries reported by General Washburn (whose report thereof, by
the way, is lavishly complimented by the New York journalgs) are likely and
almost certain to lead to an early and thorough exploration of those mysterious
regions under the patronage of the general Government and of the Smithsonian
Institute and other prominent institutions of the country. I think this will be
sure to take place next season.”

I have not examined the New York newspapers or others of that time at all
generally, but a general survey of such publications from October 1, 1870, to
April 1, 1872, from the first publication of Yellowstone exploration reports to
the enactment of the bill, would be of interest.

The party brought back with them, of course, many specimens to corroborate
their stories of natural wonders. The following appears in the Herald for
November 10:

“ Petrifaction—We saw to-day, in the window of the First National Bank,
as beautiful a specimen of petrifaction as perhaps was ever found in the Terri-
tory. It is apparently the body of a cedar tree and is about 15 inches in length,
6 inches in diameter, and weighs 30 pounds. The interior resembles white,
polished marble, with a streak of black coral between it and the exterior, which
is a dull white color. It was found on Canyon Creek near its intersection with
Jefferson River. The specimen is the property of N. P. Langford, who purposes
to take it East with him this winter for display, with many curiosities collected
in the Yellowstone trip, as among the wonderful freaks of nature in Montana.”

Langford very soon took to the platform and gave a * grand leeture” to open
the Helena Library Association Lecture Course, November 18, 1870, his speech
being “ Recent Explorations on the Yellowstone.” Soon thereafter he went
East, giving his Yellowstone lecture to “a very fair audience” in Lincoln Hall
in Washington the evening of January 19, 1871, with Speaker James G. Blaine
presiding, and at the Cooper Institute In New York the evening of January 21.
The New York Times says of the New York meeting that the large hall “ was
filled to its utmost capacity.” The following advertisement for the Washington
lecture appeared in the Washington Star for January 19, 1871:
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LincorN HaLL
LECTURE ON THURSDAY NIGHT, JANUARY 19
By Hon. N. P. LAXGFORD

Describing a trip during the past season to a hitherto unexplored reglon at
the headwaters of the Yellowstone, including discoveries of cataracts many
hundred feet high, active volcanoes, fountains of boiling water 200 feet high,
and many other features of scenery, interesting and striking in the highest
degree, '

Tickets of admission 50 cents; for sale at Ballantynes.

The reading notice in the same paper referred to “mountain peaks, 11,000
feet perpendicular height, cataracts, volcanoes, geysers, ete.”

R. E. Fisgk, one of the editors of the Helena Herald in his news letter from
New York, May 26, 1871, says:

“ Mr, Langford, whom I have had the pleasure of meeting several times in
the city, lectured last week at the house of Jay Cooke, near Philadelphia, in the
interest of the Northern Pacific Railroad Co. Mr. Langford has an engage-
ment for a series of lectures which he will deliver in Pennsyivania the present
month should his threatened bronchial trouble permit.”

It will be remembered that Jay Cooke was floating the bond issue for the
extension of the Northern Pacific Railroad and would naturally be much
interested in this proposed development in the Northern Pacific’'s projected
territory and it is definite that he utilized Langford’s services.

In Oberholser’'s “Jay Cooke” we find:

“ A very important feature of the general scheme of publicity for the Northern
Pacific Co. was the employment of lecturers for whom meetings were arranged
by the general agents in order to enthuse the people in their districts. The
principal of these was C. C. Coffin, * * * 8. Garfielde, the eloquent delegate
in Congress from Washington Territory ; N. P. Langford, who had just returned
from a visit to the Yellowstone region, deeply impressed with its wonders; and
several others were pressed into service with undoubted advantage to the
enterprise.” (P. 236, Vol. I1.)

“Tt was said that the Yellowstone River region with its many natural
wonders would attract tourists in increasing numbers. Lectures were de-
livered by returning travelers, pictures were shown upon slides, and paintings
were exhibited to impress upon the unbelieving a faint idea of the future
attraction of this district and the resulting profits to a railroad penetrating
it. No promise on this point remains unfulfilled.” (P. 316, Vol. I1.)

That Langford had other matters than the creation of a new national park
on his mind is evident from the following exiract from the Washington letter
to the Corrine Reporter as quoted in the Helena Herald of January 26, 1871:

“N. P. Langford, of Montana, is here working for various interests in that
Territory.”

In Mr. Langford’s diary as first published in 1904 there appears the story
of the campfire discussion of the future of the wonderful Yellowstone region
where was born the movement to set this region aside as a national park.
This appears on pages 117 and 118 of that edition, which reads in part as
follows:

“ Mr. Hedges then sald that he did not approve of any of these plans—that
there ought to be no private ownership of any portion of that region, but that
the whole of it ought to be set apart as a great national park, and that each
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one of us ought to make an effort to have this accomplished. His suggestion
met with an instantaneous and favorable response from all—except one—of
the members of our party, and each hour since the matter was first broached,
our enthusiasm has increased. It has been the main theme of our conversation
to-day as we journeyed. I lay awake half of last night thinking about it;
and if my wakefulness deprived my bedfellow (Hedges) of any sleep, he has
only himself and his disturbing national park proposition to answer for it.

“Our purpose to create a park can only be accomplished by untiring work
and concerted action in a warfare against the incredulity and unbelief of our
national legislators when our proposal shall be presented for their approval.
Nevertheless, I believe we can win the battle.

“I do not know of any portion of our country where a national park can
be established furnishing to visitors more wonderful attractions than here.
These wonders are so different from anything we have ever seen—they are so
various, so extensive—that the feeling in my mind from the moment they began
to appear until we left them has been one of intense surprise and of
incredulity.”

Neither in the Doane report, in form a dairy, nor in the diary of Mr. Hedges
himself, as published later by the Montana Historical Society, is there any
reference to this suggestion or to the national park idea. Also there is no
suggestion to any reserve of this area in the Langford or Washburn articles in
the Helena Herald or in the Langford or Trumbull articles published in May
and June, 1871, in Scribner’s and the Overland Monthly.

But in his article on “ Yellowstone Lake” in the Helena Herald of November
9, 1870, Mr. Hedges says:

“Hence the propriety that the Territorial lines be so readjusted that
Montana should embrace all that lake region west of the Wind River Range,
a matter in which we hope our citizens will soon move to accomplish, as well
as to secure its future appropriation to the public use.” [Italies are mine.]

Mr. Hedges has added a note to his diary as published August, 1904, in 5
Montana Historical Society 370, in which he says:

“It was at the first camp after leaving the Lower Geyser Basin when all
were speculating which point in the region we had been through would become
most notable, when I first suggested uniting all our efforts to get it made
a national park, little dreaming such a thing were possible.”

In his introduction to “Discovery of Yellowstone Park,” page 19, Lang-
ford says, “In my lectures delivered in Washington and New York in J anuary,
1871, T directed attention to Mr. Hedges's suggestion and urged the passage by
Congresg of an act setting apart that region as a public park,” Chittenden,
page 75, third edition Yellowstone Park, states that the New York Tribune thus
quotes Mr. Langford:

“This is probably the most remarkable region of natural attractions in the
world, and, while we always have our Niagara and Yosemite, this new field of
wonders should be at once withdrawn from oceupancy and set apart as a
publie national park for the enjoyment of the American people for all time.”

I find that the New York Herald half-column account of the Langford
lecture in its issue of Monday, January 28, and the Times account in its issue
of January 22, included no national park reference, nor did the Washington
Star account of his Washington lecture. A more extended search might find
it in some other article.

Delegate Cavanagh, of Montana, attended the Langford lecture in Washing-
ton, but no bill with reference to the Yellowstone region was introduced in
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that session of Congress. The Government officlal exploration of the reglon
was, however, authorized, and very logically any definite movement toward
reservation of the area awaited the report of that expedition.

The winter of 1870-71 Hedges and Hauser were also in the East and visited
Washington.

General Washburn, the leader of the expedition, left Helena December 3,
1870, for the Hast by stage, announcing his purpose to visit his people in
Indiana and return in March. The Helena Herald of that day pald him a
glowing tribute. He died at his old home in Indiana of pulmonary trouble
January 26, 1871. The news of his death was received with great regret in
Montana. The Helena Herald of January 28, 1871, published an obituary, and
Sunday evening, January 29, memorial services were held in the Methodist
Church, which was crowded to its capacity, with people standing. At that
meeting addresses were given by Judge Symes, Cornelius Hedges, and Reverend
Lathrop. The resolution adopted by that meeting declared that “no one ever
came to this Territory who so rapidly and securely won his way to general
esteem.” He was succeeded as surveyor-general by John E. Blaine, borther
of Speaker Blaine.

At the time of the Yellowstone expedition Washburn was 38, Hauser 37, Lang-
ford 38, Hedges 89, Doane 30, and Everts 54.

General Washburn no doubt would have included a discussion of his Yellow-
stone expedition in his annual report for the fiscal year 1871 if he had lived.
Due to his death, the only annual report filed by him as surveyor-general of
Montana was for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1870. As he died January,
1871, the 1871 annual report was by John E. Blaine and contained no reference
to the Washburn expedition of 1870.

MONTANA IN 1870 AND 1871

In his 1870 report Surveyor-General Washburn reports the yield of gold
for the Territory for the * present season (187¢) will be about $12,000,000.”

The annual report of the Commissioner of the General Land Office for 1870,
dated October 21, 1870, says:

“On Alder Gulch, in the Jefferson Basin, or in that territory east of the
Rocky Mountains, the first extensive mining operations were conducted. Thias
gulch has produced more gold than any other locality in Montana. The result
obtained for the first three years after its discovery is estimated at $20,000,000.
In 18 months a population of 10,000 had settled in this vicinity, causing the
rapid building up of the towns of Nevada, Central City, Virginla City, and
Summit City.”

The population of the towns in Montana as shown by Blaine in his 1871
report as surveyor general for Montana was as follows: Helena, 3,713 ; Virginia
City (the capital), 867; Deer Lodge, 789; Diamond City, 460; Benton, 435;
Bannack, 381 ; Radersburgh, 311 ; Bozeman City, 165; Missoula, 119.

The 1870 report of the commissioner of the General Land Office showed the
area of public lands in the United States was 1,387,732,209 acres of which there
remained unsurveyed 1,807,115448 acres.

The Territory of Montana had only recently (1864) been formed from a
portion of the territory ceded to the United States by France. It was carved
out of the Territory of Idaho, which had been created in 1863. In 1868 the
Territory of Wyoming, including most of the Yellowstone National Park region,
was carved out of the Territory of Montana. Because of difficulty of access
the early exploration of the Yellowstone Park region came from Montana.
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At this time there was no railroad in Montana, and Helena was 500 miles
from its railroad point, Corinne, Utah. The Northern Pacific extension was
then being promoted. Winter mails were uncertain. The Helena Herald of
February 10, 1872, says only one or two small batches of mail had been received
since January 10. *In 1870, 18,000,000 .pounds of freight entered Montana by
this route (Corinne by stages) at a cost of 15 cents a pound. The *first class’
fare for passengers was $66. Wells, Fargo & Co. ran daily stages, making the
trip in four days. There was also ‘a daily line of post freight and express
wagons, which traveled night and day and covered the distance in nine days.
Sometimes during the summer boats ascended the Missourl to Fort Benton,
about 140 miles north of Helena, with which place there was stage connection
thrice a week. It was 3,100 miles from S8t. Louis to Fort Benton and the trip
eost $100 upon the boats alone, the time consumed varying from four to eight
weeks.” (P. 818, Vol. II, Oberholser’s Jay Cooke.)

As g result of the Folsom and Washburn expeditions and the general pub-
licity resulting concerning the wonders of the Yellowstone, travelers began
to find thelr way into this region and desirable routes of travel were estab-
lished. In the Helena Herald of December 1871, appears a letter from A. J.
Thresher, of Helena, answering inquiries as to the best routes from Helena
“to the geysers, Yellowstone Falls, Lake, etc.” In the December 20, 1871,
issue of the Helena Herald is a column article “ Mammoth Mound Springs,”
giving extracts from the *forthcoming book of Prof. A. F. Thresher on
Yellowstone country.” I have not located this book, but if published 1t would
be about the first Yellowstone guldebook.

HAYDEN EXPEDITION OF 1871

The sundry civil act of March 8, 1871, carried an item of $40,000 for con-
tinuation of the Hayden survey under direction of the Secretary of the In-
terior. It also carried $12,000 to continue the Powell gurvey of Colorado, etc.,
under direction of the Smithsenian.

Under this appropriation Hayden was, May 1, 1871, reappointed United
States geologist from July 1, 1871, at a salary of $4,000 per year (had been
$3,000) and permitted to select his own assistants “ who will be entirely
subject to your orders.” He was to complete “the season’s work about the
sources of the Missouri and Yellowstone Rivers.”

Representative Henry L. Dawes, of Massachusetts, was chairman of the
House Committee on Appropriations and had shown his interest in this survey
as evidenced by the following in Hayden's Preliminary Report for 1871 (p. 96) :

“ Qur little bark * * * was named by Mr. Stevenson in compliment to
Miss Anna L, Dawes, the amiable daughter of Hon. H. L. Dawes. My whole
party were glad to manifest, by this slight tribute, their gratitude to this
distinguisbed statesman, whose generous sympathy and aid had countributed so
much toward securing the appropriation which enable them to explore this
marvelous region.”

Chester M. Dawes, a general assistant In the party, was a son of Representa-
tive Dawes, is the present recollection of Mr. W. H. Jackson, the only living
survivor of the party.

I have had a talk with George B. Chittenden of East River, Conn., who was
in the Hayden survey from 1873 to 1877. He tells me Hayden had a remarkable
personality and the capacity to arouse in his subordinates the utmost loyalty
and the most enthusiastic effort. He tells me that once, while talking about
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the camptire, Hayden jumped up with enthusiasm, exclaiming, “ Geology is
like the Bible, & sermon in every verse.” He never carried a gun, even in
the wilds, saying he often ran away from trouble, when, if he had had a gun,
he would bave stayed and been in trouble. He was fearless, going anywhere.
Once, in the Black Hills, he was captured by Indians who found him carrying
a bag of stones. Believing him insane, and treating the demented always with
consideration, he was released by them unharmed. He was called by the
Indians “the man who picks up stones running.” Forty-four genera and
species of various organisms were named for him “from a living moth to a
fossil dinosaur.” He had been a surgeon in the Civil War and 1865 to 1872
was professor of geology at the University of Pennsylvania. After that he
gave full time to his Government survey. He was born in 1829 and died in 1887.

In his preliminary report on the 1871 expedition Professor Hayden refers to
his contact with Jim Bridger as guide of the expedition to the Lower Yellow-
stone under General Warren in 1856 and his wonderful tales “ that sharpened
the curiosity of the whole party.” In 1860 he bad been a member of the
Raynolds expedition as geologist. He said that the Langford articles in
Scribner's had called the attention of the whole country “to that remarkable
region.” The Washburn expedition led to the Hayden exploration, just as the
Folsom expedition led to the Washburn.

The Hayden expedition in addition to Professor Hayden included the fol-
lowing: James Stevenson, managing director; Henry W. Elliott, artist; Prof.
Cyrus Thomas, agricultural statistician and entomologist; Anton Schonborn,
chief topographer; A. J. Smith, assistant; William H. Jackson, photographer;
George B. Dixon, assistant; J. W. Beaman, meteorologist; Prof. G. N. Allen,
botanist; Robert Adams, jr., assistant; Dr. A. C. Peale, mineralogist; Dr. C. S.
Turnbull, physician; Campbell Carriugton, in charge of zoological collections;
William B. Logan, secretary; F. J. Huse, Chester M. ‘Dawes, C. DeV. Hegley,
and J. W. Duncan, assistants; Thomas Moran, artist.

Of these William H. Jackson, of Denver, ig believed to be the only one now
living. Robert Adams, jr., assistant botanist, at the time only 22, later was
minister to Brazil and Member of Congress from Pennsylvania for seven terms,
taking part in the debate on the Yellowstone Park legislation in 1804,

At the same time that the Hayden exploration was under way Capt. J. W.
Barlow and Capt. D. P. Heap, of the Engineer Corps of the Army, were
conducting a reconnaissance of the upper Yellowstone, and the two parties
traveled a great deal together. General Sheridan had directed that a military
escort be furnished the Hayden survey party. The eseort was under command
of Captain Tyler and Lieutenant Grugan until the party reached Yellowstone
Lake, -where Lieutenant Doane, who had played such a prominent part in
the Washburn expedition of the year before, was sent to relieve them. Barlow
and Heap had been directed by General Sheridan “to make an exploration
of the sources of the Yellowstone.” Barlow was then chief engineer for the
military division of the Missouri, which included the Yellowstone country.

The Barlow-Heap party joined themselves to the expedition of Professor
Hayden “ taking advantage of the escort ordered for him,” as it was expressed
by General Sheridan in his order, but traveled and camped with the Hayden
party or not, as suited their mutual convenience. His orders stated he was to
have “one noncommissioned officer and five mounted cavalrymen to be under
his special orders for this expedition,” making it clear he was not in actual
command of the regular escort. Therefore, the Government was simultaneously
making two techuical studies of the Yellowstone Park region. Professor
Hayden was in charge of one party, representing the Interior Department,
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while Captain Barlow was making an independent study as the representative
of the Army.

Captain Barlow’s diary, later published in his report, Senate Executive
Document 66, Forty-second Congress, second session, gives no indication but
what the arrangement was very satisfactory, and all the contacts between
the two parties, including its leaders, entirely agreeable. It may be inferred,
however, from the very brevity of his references to the Barlow party that
Professor Hayden did not enthuse over his unexpected company. In his
preliminary report Professor Hayden referred to the escort as being under
command of Captain Tyler and Lieutenant Grugan ‘“under the direction of
Col. J. W. Barlow and Capt. D. P. Heap of the Engineer Corps and the party
under my charge.” He otherwise always referred to the Barlow-Heap expedi-
tion as if it were entirely apart from his own. In his preliminary report
he says that Barlow and Heap “made an exploration of the Yellowstone Basin
during the past year,” and in his introduction to the Moran collection of
Yellowstone pictures in 1876 he speaks of the Barlow expedition as if it were
an entirely separate expedition from his own. It would have been quite
human for Hayden to mentally resent the presence of another well organized
party landing itself into the scene of his own exploration problem. The
interest of the whole country was aroused and public attention was turned
toward the Yellowstone. The Hayden expedition was well provided with
technical experts, including geologists, botanists and other scientists and also
a noted artist and a notably competent photographer., Then they find they
are to have a rival expedition journeying with them, including in its number
a photographer. There is no evidence that he manifested anything except
cordiality during their travels, but he forgot Barlow as fully as possible
thereafter.

The Barlow repoert of 43 pages was sent to Congress and printed as a publie
document April 18, 1872, after the Yellowstone Park bill had become law.
Some extracts from it appeared in the Chicago Journal of January 13, 1872,
but no reference to the Barlow report appears in the brief congressional
debates.

The Washburn expedition of the year before, having no photographer with
them, brought back somewhat crude drawings by Walter Trumbull and
Pvt. Charles Moore as the first sketches of Yellowstone Park scenery ever
to be published. The Hayden party, through the presence of Thomas Moran,
secured paintings of Yellowstone Park scenery which are famous. Also William
H. Jackson, their photographer, secured a series of photographs which were
after their return handsomely reproduced and are remarkably fine, notwith-
standing the difficulties which had to be overcome in that early stage of the
photographic art.

The Barlow party were not so fortunate in connection with their photog-
raphy. A Themas J. Hine, so Captain Barlow reports, had about 200 nega-
tives of “ beautiful views of lake and mountain scenery, including photographg
of some of the largest geysers taken while in action.”” These were taken to
the military division headquarters at Chicago and destroyed with the meteor-
{ogical records of the expedition in the great Chicago fire in October, 1871.
Captain Barlow says “ 16 prints were made the day previous to the fire, which
Mr. Hine saved. These will but serve as a sample of those destroyed.”
‘Whether these prints were sent to the War Department with Captain Barlow's
report, I have found no evidence of their ever having been published officially
or otherwise. Informal inquiry made by telephone by me at the office of the
Adjutant General has met with very kind cooperation in that office, but they
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advise me that they can not locate the prints in their files or in the office
of the Chief Engineer.

The Hayden party left Ogden City about June 1, and spent the entire ijeason
in their work. Professor Hayden's report to Secretary Delano was dated
February 20, 1872. Articles by him with reference to the Yellowstone Park
region appeared in the American Journal of Science and Arts and in Scribner’s
for February, 1872.

In his Scribner's article, page 396, which was probably in the hands of the
public in January, Hayden says:

“Why will not Congress at once pass s law setting it apart as a great
public park for all time to come as has been done with that far inferiow
wonder, the Yosemite Valley?”

As to the article in the American Journal of Science and Arts for February,
1872, the pamphlet copy in the Library of Congress is insecribed * To Hon.
J. A. Garfield with compliments of F. V. Hayden.” Garfield had that session
succeeded Dawes as Chairman of the House Committee on Appropriations.
Hayden closes this article:

“A Dbill has been introduced into Congress which has for its purpose the
setting apart of this wonderland as a great National Park for all time. We
have, as a precedent, a similar action with regard to the Yosemite Valley, and
this noble act has met with the hearty approval of the people. The speedy
passage of this bill, which will prevent squatters from taking possession of
the springs and destroying the beautiful decorations, will also meet with the
cordial approval of all classes. We hope that before this article is published
to the world the act will have become law.”

PASSAGE OF THE YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK ACT

December 18, 1871, the bill to create Yellowstone Park was introduced
simultaneously in both Houses of Congress, H. R. 764 by Delegate William H.
Clagett, of Deer Lodge, Mont., and S. 392 by Senator Pomeroy, of Kansas,

The speed with which the Yellowstone Park bill proceeded from introduction
to enactment into law is surprising. It is true it was not accompanied by
any appropriation and was merely the reservation of lands already belonging
to the Government., There were, however, projects pending at the same time
involving the reservation or transfer of lands totaling about 100,000,000 acres,
most of which projects failed. It wasg just after the Civil War, a period when
economy in the National Government was urgent. Nevertheless the bill which
wasg first introduced in Congress December 18, 1871, became law March 1,
1872, only about 10 weeks later.

At this time Helena, Mont., was well represented in Washington. Langford,
Everts, and Hauser were in Washington much of the time and Walter Trumbull
was clerk of the Senate Committee on Judiciary, of which his father was chair-
man, Professor Hayden was at the Interior Department.

The Helena Herald of January 16, 1872, containg the following Washington
correspondence from the Territorial Enterprise of Nevada, dated January
7, 1872:

“The Hon. N. P. Langford, of Montana, the leader of the famous Yellow-
stone expedition of 1870 and several scientific and literary gentlemen are
engaged in an effort to have the Yellowstone region declared a National Park.
The district, of which some features have been described in Seribner’s Monthly,
1s said to be unadapted for agricultural, mining, or manufacturing purposes,
and it is proposed to have its magnificent scenery, hot springs, geysers, and
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cataracts forever dedicated to public use as a grand national reservatlon.
Congress Is to be petitioned to this effect.”

At the time the Yellowstone Park was established Congress apparently had
before it Joint Memorial No. 5 adopted by the Montana Legislative Council
on motion of Councilman Seth Bullock, later noted as a friend of Roosevelt.
This memorial asked Congress to add the Yellowstone area to Montana and that
it “be dedicated and devoted to public use, resort and recreation, for all time
to come, as a great national park, under such care and restrictions as to your
honorable bodies may seem best calculated to secure the ends proposed.”

That sentiment in Montana was not entirely unanimous appears from an
editorial in the Helena Gazette, one of the publishers of which was Col. Martin
Maginnis, later Delegate, which said in part: “In our opinion the effect of
the measure will be to keep this country in wilderness and shut out for many
yvears the travel that would seek that curious region if good roads were
cpened through it and hotels bullt therein. We regard the passage of the
#ct as a great blow struck at the prosperity of the towns of Bozeman and
Virginia City which might normally look for considerable travel to this section
if it were thrown open to a curious but comfort loving public.” (Helena
Herald, March 1, 1872.)

The Territorial (Nevada) Enterprise indorsed the park as the ‘ grandest
park in the world.” (Helena Herald, March 22, 1872.)

The Senate bill received the more prompt committee action. January 22,
1872, Sepator Pomeroy stated that he had been instructed by the Committee
on Public Lands to report back 8. 392 and recommend its passage. There
heing some objection to other business being interfered with at that time, he
withdrew the report, presenting it again January 23. After some discussion
of the purposes of legislation objection was made to its immediate considera-
tion. A week later, January 30, 1872, it came up for consideration before the
Senate in its regular order and was passed.

In the debate Senator Anthony, of Rhode Island, and Senator Tipton, of
Nebraska, showed thelr friendly interest in the legislation and its conservation
purposes. Senator Edmunds, of Vermont, and Senator Trumbull, of Illinois,
father of Walter Trumbull of the Washburn party, spoke in support of the
legislation. The only hostile note came from Senator Cornelius Cole, of
California, strange to say, where the State had recently accepted the Yosemite
grant from the Iederal Government. But he was chairman of the Senate
Committee on Appropriations. With trifling amendments the bill was then
passed by the Senate.

The Helena Herald of January 31, 1872, under the heading * A National
Park,” carried an editorial stating that telegraphic dispatches that morning
“announce that the bill introduced by Senator Pomeroy, providing for a
national park on the headwaters of the Yellowstone,” had passed ihe Senate.
It further states that the idea was first conceived “ by the party of gentlemen
in 1869 " and was promoted by the letters of Hedges, the lectures of Langford,
the articles by Trumbull, ete.

When the bill went to the House it was allowed to remain on the Speaker’s
table until February 27. In the meantime the House committee on January 27
had asked from the Interior Department a report on the Clagett bill. In
making the request to the Secretary of the Interior Representative Dunnell
referred to “ the bill to set apart some land in Wyoming Territory ” and said,
as chairman of the subcommittee on the bill he * would be pleased to receive
the report made by Professor Hayden or such report as he may be able to give
us on the subject.” This original letter is now in National Park Service files.
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Hayden prepared a statement which was transmitted by Secretary Delano,
January 29, 1872. The House committee authorized a favorable report,
Representative Dunnell accepted and used as the committee report the draft
prepared by Professor Hayden. This he did not have opportunity to file until
February 28, after the Senate bill had passed the House.

February 27 during the consideration of business on the Speaker’s table the
House took up 8. 392. Mr. Scofield, of Pennsylvania, a member of the Commit-
tee on Public Lands and later an associate justice of the United States Court
of Claims, moved that the bill be referred to the Public Lands Committee.
Representative Henry L. Dawes, of Massachusetts, expressed the hope that the
bill be put upon its immediate passage as a meritorious measure. Mr. John
Taffe, of Nekraska, a member of the Committee on the Territories, moved that
the bill be referred to that committce. Mr, Scofield withdrew his motion “at
the request of the gentleman from Massachusetts,” and no further action was
taken on the Taffe motion. Mr. Hawley, of Illinois, and Mr. Dunnell, of
Minnesota, stated the favorable action of the Houge Public Lands Committee,
and Mr. Dawes stated the purpose of the legislation. Notwithstanding no
speech was made directly in opposition to the passage of the bill, opposition
developed upon the vote. On a division there were ayes 81, and noes 41. Mr.
Morgan, of Ohio, demanded the ayes and nays, and on the roll call there were
115 ayes, 65 nays, and 60 not voting.

Morgan had been the Democratic nominee for Speaker against Blaine and
was now evidently the minority leader. He had been brevetted brigadier
general in the Mexican War, had served as minister to Portugal, and had been
commissioned as brigadier general in the Union Army of the Civil War. He
had presented credentials as a Democratic member elect to the Fortieth Con-
gress, serving from March 4, 1867, to June 3, 1868, when he was succeeded
by Columbus Delano, who had contested the election. Then he was elected to
the Forty-first and Forty-second Congresses. Delano became Secretary of the
Interior and reported favorably upon this legislation to which Morgan now
proved to be hostile.

THE HOUSE ROLL CALL

Analysis of the roll call vote shows that, the vote being demanded by the
minority leader, the division was largely on party lines, possibly due only to
the fact that partisanship ruled more strongly in legislation then than now.

In any event, the Republicans being in power, there were voting for the bill
97 Republicans, 15 Democrats, 1 Conservative, 1 Conservative Democrat, and
1 Independent Democrat. Of these 18, 5 came from New York, 3 from Mary-
land (former home of Clagett and Everts), 2 each from Delaware and Illinois,
and 1 each from Nevada, Kentucky, Wisconsin, Pennsylvania, North Carolina,
and Alabama.

Against the bill were 52 Democrats, 11 Republicans and 2 Liberal Republicans.
Of the latter 18, two each came from Indiana and Connecticut, and one each
from Nebraska, California, Pennsylvania, Kansas, New York, South Carolina,
Georgia, Missouri, and Illinois.

The vote for the bill included—

Ames, Oakes (Republican), Massachussets, later prominent in transcontinen-
tal railroad promotion. ’

Archer (Demoerat), Maryland, whose father and grandfather preceded him
in Congress.

Banks (Republican), Massachussets, who was first elected to the Thirty-third
Congress as a Coalition Democrat, to the Thirty-fourth by the American Party
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and elected Speaker, to the Thirty-fifth as a Republican, as a Union Republican
to the Thirty-ninth, and as a Republican to the Fortieth, Forty-first, and Forty-
second, was defeated as a Liberal and Democrat for the Forty-third, elected as
a Liberal Republican to the Forty-fourth and Forty-fifth and to the Fifty-first
as a Republican. He had gained fame in the Civil War as a major general.

Beveridge (Republican), Illinois, governor 1873-1877.

Bigby (Republican), Georgia, later president Atlanta & West Point Railroad.

Biggs (Democrat), Delaware, governor 1882-1891.

Bingham (Republican), Ohio, who had been special judge advocate at the
trial of the Lincoln conspirators and one of the House managers of the Johnson
impeachment and was minister to Japan 1873-1883.

Blair (Republican), Michigan, Civil War governor.

Boles, Thomas (Republican), Arkansas, father of Thomas Boles, former
superintendent of Hawaii National Park and now superintendent of Carlshad
Caverns National Park.

Burdett (Republican), Missouri, commissioner, General Land Office, 1874.

Clarke, W. T. (Republican), Texas, former major general in Union Army,

Coburn (Republican), Maryland, who had been appointed as first secretary,
Territory of Montana, but resigned at once and later appointed associate justice
supreme court of that Territory and served 1884-85.

Conger (Republican), Michigan, Senator 1881-1887.

Cox (Democrat), New York, later minister to Turkey.

Duell (Republican), New York, Commissioner of Patents 1875-1877.

Farwell (Republican), Illinois, Senator 1882-1891.

Frye (Republican), Maine, Senator 18811911, President pro tempore, mem-
ber 1898 Peace Commission.

Garfield (Republican), Ohlo, President 1881,

Hale (Republican), Maine, declined appointment as Postmaster General 1874
and Secretary Navy 1877, Senator 1881-1911.

Hambleton (Democrat), Maryland, president Chesapeake & Ohio Canal
1853-1854.

Hoar (Republican), Massachusetts, member HBlectoral Commission 1877,
Senator 1877-1904.

McNeeley (Democrat), Iilinois, died in 1921, probably the last to die.

Rusk (Republican), Wisconsin, governor 1882-1889, Secretary of Agricul-
ture 1889-1893.

Sargent {Republican), California, Senator 1873-1879, minister to Germany
1882-1884,

Twichell (Republican), Massachusetts, president Atchison Topeka & Santa Fe
1870-1874,

‘Wheeler (Republican), New York, Vice President 1877-1881,

Among those voting against the bill were: ’

Barnum (Democrat), Connecticut, later Senator.

Beck (Democrat), Kentucky, later Senator.

Kerr (Democrat), Indiana, S8peaker Forty-fourth Congress.

Rainey (Republican), South Carolina, first negro elected to Congress. Served
December 12, 1870, to March 3, 1879.

Roberts (Republican), New York, Treasurer of United Statns 1897-1905.

Silater (Democrat), Oregon, Senator 1879-1885.

Tyner (Republican), Indiana, Postmaster General 1876-77.

Voorhees (Demoerat), Indiana, Senator 1877-1897, defeated previously by
General Washburn.

Whithorne (Democrat), Tennessee, Senator 1886-87.

.
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Winchester (Democrat), Kentucky, later minister to Switzerland.
Passage of the bill through the House brought this editorial from the Helena
Herald February 28, 1872

“ OUR NATIONAL PARK

# Qur dispatches announce the passage in the House of the Senate bill setting
apart the upper Yellowstone Valley for the purposes of a National Park, The
importance to Montana of this congressional enactment can not be too highly
estimated. It will redound to the untold good of the Territory inasmuch as a
measure of this character is well calculated to direct the world’s attention to a
very important section of country that to the present time has passed largely
unnoticed. It will be the means of centering upon Montana .the attention of
thousands heretofore comparatively uninformed of a Territory abounding in
such resources of mines and of agriculture and of wonderland as we can
boast, spread everywhere about us. The efficacy to this people of having in
Congress a Delegate able, active, zealous, and untiring in his labors as well as
in political harmony with the General Government 1s being amply demon-
strated in the success attending the representative stewardship of Mr. Clagett.
Our Delegate surely 1s performing deeds in the interest of his constituents which
none of them can gainsay or overlook and these deeds are being recorded in
the public’s great ledger and in the hearts of us all.”

The bill was promptly signed by President Grant, becoming law March 1,
1872,

WHO SECURED THE CREATION OF YELLOWSTONE
NATIONAL PARK?

It is to be regretted that in a field where there would seem to be glory enough
for all the claims to credit should be so conflicting. Clagett, Langford, Hayden,
Dawes, Sheridan—each of these is certainly entitled to great credit in the
creation and preservation of this great park, Faulty recollections conflict as
to the credit to go to each.

DELEGATE CLAGETT

In the introduction to N. P. Langford’s “The Discovery of Yellowstone
Park,” is given a letter from Clagett in 1894, setting forth the history of the
Yellowstone Park legislation. He states that in the fall of 1870, or spring of
1871, he remonstrated with certain persons who proposed to enter some lands
of the Yellowstone region for speculative purposes, and stated that the whole
region should be made into a national park, and no private proprietorship
ghould be allowed; that after his election to Congress in August, 1871, Lang-
ford, Hedges, and he consulted and agreed that the park should be established
a8 soon as possible. He further states:

“» = * Tp December, 1871, Mr. Langford came to Washington and re-
mained there for some time, and we two counseled together about the park
project. I drew the bill to establish the park, and never knew Professor Hayden
in connection with that bill, except that I requested Mr. Langford to get from
him a description of the boundaries of the proposed park. There was some
delay in getting the description, and my recollection is that Langford brought
me the description after consultation with Professor Hayden. I then filled
the blank in the bill with the description, and the bill passed both Houses of
Congress just as it was drawn and without any change or amendment
whatsoever.
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* After the bill was drawn, Langford stated to me that Senator Pomeroy of
Kansas was very anxious to have the honor of introducing the bill in the Sen-
ate; and as he (Pomeroy) was the chairman of the Senate Committee on
Public Lands, in order to facilitate its passage, I had a clean copy made of
the bill and on the first call day in the House, introduced the original there,
and then went over to the Senate Chamber and handed the copy to Senator
Pomeroy, who immediately introduced it in the Senate. The bill passed the
Senate first and came to the House, and passed the House without amendment,
at a time when I happened to be at the other end of the Capitol, and hence
I was not present when it actually passed the House.

“It has always been a pleasure to me to give to Professor Hayden and to
Senator Pomeroy, and Mr. Dawes of Massachusetts all of the credit which they
deserve in connection with the passage of that measure, but the truth of the
matter is that the origin of the movement which created the park was with
Hedges, Langford, and myself; and after Congress met, Langford and I prob-
ably did two-thirds, if not three-fourths of all the work connected with its
passage.” )

However true may be Clagett’s statement as above, the Congressional Globe
carries no reference to Clagett’s interest in the bill further than his introduc-
tion of it. When Senator Pomeroy introduced the bill December 18, 1871,
he made a brief statement in the Senate and referred to the “elaborate re-
port 7 of Professor Hayden as basis for congressional action. When he re-
ported the bill to the Senate January 22, 1872, he again made a brief state-
ment in which he referred to the Hayden exploration. Again on January 23
when he called the bill up and attempted its passage in the Senate he says:

“This bill originated as the result of the exploration, made by Professor
Hayden, under an appropriation of Congress of last year. With a party he
explored the headwaters of the Yellowstone and found it to be a great nat-
ural curiosity, great geysers, ag they are termed, waterspouts, and hot springs,
and, having platted the ground himself, and having given me the dimensions
of it, the bill was drawn up, as it was thought best to consecrate and set
apart this great place of national resort, as it may be in the future, for the
purposes of public enjoyment.”

Contrary to Mr. Clagett’s recollection, the bill was amended in the Senate
and there was substantial opposition in the House.

The proceedings as reported in the Congressional Globe do not seem to me
to conform to Mr. Clagett’s recollection as to Pomeroy. Senator Pomeroy was
the first one to introduce a bill that day in the Senate and the order of intro-
duction of bills came very early in the day’s proceedings. While that order of
business likewise came early in the House, Mr. Clagett was not the first one to
introduce a bill in the House, but followed quite a number of others. It is evi-
dent he could not have introduced the bill first and then gone over to the Senate
to give a copy to Senator Pomeroy in time for Senator Pomeroy to take the
action he did.

I have sought to examine the manuscripts of the original bills introduced in
the House and Senate. Some years ago the Clerk of the House, William
Tyler Page, turned over to the Library of Congress these old documents of
the House. In the manuseript division of the Library of Congress they
promptly found for me H. R, 764. It is in a bound volume with other bills
introduced at that time, such bills being arranged in numerical order. There
is in the files of the National Park Service a photostat copy of the bill which
is in handwriting consisting of three pages with the usual backing on the last
page.

128209°—32——3
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H. R. 763 introduced at the same time by Delegate Clagett had for its pur-
pose the removal of the Flathead Indians from Bitter Root Valley of Montana.
H. R. 763 is in the same handwriting as 764, which handwriting is evidently
that of Mr. Clagett, as comparison with his signature on the backing of each
of the bills indicates. I am satisfied, therefore, that the Yellowstone Park
bill, introduced by Mr. Clagett, was in his handwriting, but this does not neces-
sarily determine whether the original draft was by him or by someone else.
He says in his letter of July 14, 1894, set forth in the intreduction to Langford’s
“The Discovery of Yellowstone Park” that he “ drew the bill to establish the
park and never knew Professor Hayden in connection with that bill, except
that he requested Mr. Langford to get from Hayden a description of the
boundaries of the proposed park” and then “filled the blank in the bill.”

The copy of the bill which Clagett used in introducing it in the House was
manifestly not constituted in that fashion. It was all written at one time
rather than a bill written at one time with a blank filled in later. It could, of
course, have been what he calls “ clean copy” of such a bill.

I have not been able to locate the manuscript copy of the bill introduced
by Senator Pomeroy. Mr. Hoffner, one of the clerks in the office of the
Secretary of the Senate, who has given a good deal of attention to these old
Senate records, has spent several hours in examination of the files of that
session of Congress without finding the Pomeroy bill. Unfortunately, the
bills are not filed numerically, but according to some very uncertain system of
indexing, and further, it is not at all certain that all of them have been pre-
served. While in recent years efforts have been made to arrange for their
proper preservation, that was not formerly the case. It would be interesting
to see the copy, for, if Mr. Clagett’s recollection is correct, it would be in
Mr. Clagett’s handwriting,

The Yellowstone Park act was a remarkably well-drawn piece of legislation,
it being remembered that it was pioneering in a new field. The description
admittedly came from Hayden. Fully as important, however, was the state-
ment of the purpose of the reservation “ dedicated and set apart as a public
park or pleasuring ground for the bencfit and enjoyment of the people.” This
is the real foundation on which the national-park system has been built.
Congress had previously reserved public lands for various purposes, but never
“as a public park or pleasuring ground for the benefit and enjoyment of the
people.” The bill further emphasized “ the preservation from injury or spoli-
ation of all timber, mineral deposits, natural curiosities or wonders within
said park and for retention in their natural condition.” It alse provided
against “the wanton destruction of the fish and game” and against “their
capture or destruction for the purpose of merchandise or profit.” The bill
does not seem to me the draft of an amateur who had only been a few weeks
in Washington and had only served two weeks in Congress.

Mr. Clagett’s election to Congress the previous August had followed a very
bitter and hectic political contest, which had stirred Montana all the summer
of 1871. His predecessor, James Cavanagh, a Democrat, was defeated for the
nomination after a very bitter fight, the bitterness of which extended into the
election and resulted in the election of Clagett as a Republican from this
Democratic constituency. In the election Clagett toured the whole State of
Montana, making speeches everywhere. It was urged that he as a member
of the party in power in Washington, could accomplish for Montana much
more than a Democrat could. Walter Trumbull, who had been a member of
the Washburn party and was therefore interested in and committed to the
national park idea, traveled with him on his tour of the State and reported



EARLY HISTORY OF YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK 31

his meetings for the Helena Herald, the leading Republican paper. The
Herald had taken notable interest in everything pertaining to the Yellowstone
region and had devoted many columns to Yellowstone Park news and descrip-
tions. Clagett told in his speeches, as reported generously by this paper, of
various things that he would do for the Territory—removal of the Indians,
establishment of an assay office, etc.,, but no mention of his interest in the
creation of a national park appears. In his statement he claims no activity
in the matter until after his election.

After his arrival in Washington he was very active in accomplishing the
things he had urged in his campaign, and the Herald sought to strengthen him
by playing up strongly an order which he secured from President Grant con-
cerning the Indians even before the session of Congress opened, and also his
progress toward an assay office. His introduction of the Yellowstone Park
bill, however, received scant attention.

Clagett no doubt was interested, but he did not become a Delegate in Con-
gress until his election on August 7, 1871, and could not have arrived in
‘Washington much before Congress met on December 4, 1871. His influence
could not therefore have been very great.

Following the previously quoted letter by Clagett, Mr. Langford states:

“It is true that Professor Hayden joined with Mr. Clagett and myself in
working for the passage of the act of dedication, but no person ecan divide with
Cornelius Hedges and David E. Folsom the honor of originating the idea of
creating the Yellowstone Park.”

HAYDEN

Professor Hayden’s annual report (fifth) was “ passing through the press”
when the Yellowstone Park bill became law, and he inserted Chapter X “a small
space to & notice of this event, omitting the details until the more complete
history can be prepared.”

In his letter of February 21, 1878, to Secretary Schurz, published in House
Executive Document No. 75, Forty-fifth Congress, second session, Hayden pre-
sents what he calls a “brief statement of the history of the National Park.” He
refers to the survey of 1871 and the great quantities of maps, sketches, photo-
graphic views, etc., and says that ““ so great was the interest excited in Congress
by the results of this expedition” that Congress passed the law. Which state-
ment was no doubt quite accurate. He further said:

“I beg permission to state here, that, so far as I know I originated the idea
of the park, prepared the maps designating the boundaries, and in connection
with Hon. W. H. Clagett, then Delegate from Montana Territory, wrote the law
as it now stands. During the pending of the bill, every effort was made by
myself and other members of the survey to remove all objection to the bill,
and the labor was constant and great. I is now acknowledged all over the
civilized world that the ewistence of the National Park, by law, is due solely
to my exertions during the sessions of 1871 and 1872. The growing opposition
to the withdrawal of any portion of the public domain for any purpose, however
laudable, would undoubtedly have prevented the success of this bill at any
subsequent session.”

The italics are mine. It would be difficult to sustain all the above statement.

Five years later, at page 17 of his twelfth annual report, dated February
1, 1883, Hayden says:

“ 8o far as is now known, the idea of setting apart a large tract about the
sources of the Yellowstone River as a National Park originated with the
writer.”
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And further:

“Jt was at the suggestion and under the direction of the writer that all
the papers, maps, reports, and the law were prepared that set this large tract
of land apart for the benefit of the people.”

Senator Pomeroy, presenting the bill in the Senate January 22, 1872, said of
Hayden, * This bill is drawn on the recommendation of that gentleman to con-
secrate for public uses this country for a public park.”

HENRY L. DAWES

In his preliminary report Professor Hayden states that because of the in- ~
terest of Representative Dawes, which had made the exploration possible, the
first boat to float on Yellowstone Lake was named the Anna in honor of his
daughter. If Mr. Jackson is correct, that the Dawes who was a member of the
Hayden party was a son of Congressman Dawes, it is clear that the Dawes -
contact on the Yellowstone project continued to be very close.

In Blaine's ¢ Twenty Years in Congress” he says that in the period 1861 to
1881, each succeeding Congress of the 10 Congresses, with a single exception,
contained a majority of new members, Also that only four men served con-
tinuously through that period, W. D. Kelley in the House, Henry B. Anthony in
the Senate, and Henry L. Dawes and Justin Morrill in House and Senate.

March 4, 1871, a few months before the Yellowstone Park bill was introduced,
James G. Blaine was elected Speaker of the House, and Henry L. Dawes was
selected to administer the oath of oftice to him, the Globe stating, *“having
served the longest continuously as Member of the House” In the previous
Congress Dawes had been chairman of the Committee on Appropriations,
Garfield, chairman of the Committee on Banking and Currency, and Hooper,
of Massachusetts, ranking Republican on Ways and Means. In this Congress
Dawes was switched to the chairmanship of Ways and Means, Garfield from
Banking and Currency to chairman of Appropriations, and Hooper from second
member of Ways and Means to chairman of Banking and Currency, all of
which goes to show that Dawes was one of the greatest powers in the House of
Representatives. The speed with which the bill became law after it was in-
troduced is in part to be explained by this. See further the Dawes sketch
later herein.

There is a definite and very public record in the Senate debates testifying
to the claim of Dawes authorship. February 17, 1883, Senator Vest said in the
Senate (p. 2836) : -

“ At the suggestion of older and more experienced Senators, who take an
interest with myself in the matter, notably the Senator from Vermont (Mr.
Edmunds), and the Senator from Massachusetts (Mr. Dawes), who was the
father of the park, we may say, for he drew the law of designation.” -

August 2, 1886 (p. 7843) Senator Dawes said:

“1 spent some time in the Yellowstone Park and have taken a great deal
of interest in it; indeed I think I drew the bill that originally set it apart.”

August 3, 1886, (p. 7915) Senator Vest said:

“The park was originated by my distinguished friend on my right (Mr.
Dawes) who was the author of the law.”

May 10, 1892, within a few months of the close of his service in the Senate,
Senator Dawes said (p. 4121):

“1 have taken an interest in this park from the day of its creation. I had
the honor to write the bill which created it, and I defended it when the outery
against the expenditure necessary for it was large.”

R
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GENERAL SHERIDAN

In 1887, when his doctor told him his life was limited and Gen. Phil
Sheridan was writing his memoirs, he remembered his Yellowstone Park
contacts with pride. Therein he tells us that after he had been for a year
commanding the division of the Missouri, which embraced the entire Rocky
Mountain region, he found it necessary to make an inspection of the military
posts in northern Utah and Montana, “in order by personal ohservation to
inform myself of their location and needs and at the same time become
acquainted with the salient geographical and topographical features of that
section of my division.” In May, 1870, he started West, taking the Union
Pacific to Corinne and stage coach to Helena. Rumors of war between France
and Germany became so certain he cut short his tour. He says:

“This resolution limited my stay in Helena to a couple of days which were
devoted to arranging for an exploration of what are now known as the Upper
and the Lower Geyser Basing in the Yellowstone Park. While journeying
between Corinne and Helena I had gained some vague knowledge of these
geysers from an old mountaineer named Atkinson, but his information was
very indefinite, mostly second hand; and there was such general uncertainty
ag to the character of this wonderland that I authorized an escort of soldiers
to go that season from Fort Ellis with a small party, to make such superficial
explorations as to justify my sending an engineer officer with a well equipped
expedition there next summer to scientifically examine and report upon the
strange country.” (Memoirs, second edition, pp. 348-350, Vol. IL)

The above statement itself shows that General Sheridan first heard of the
wonderland while en route to Helena. And, while it is very likely he was ap-
proached concerning military escort for an expedition, certainly he could. not
have initiated the exploration as is suggested when he says “arranging for an
exploration.” Hauser, Langford, and all were experienced frontiersmen, and
had been interested in this exploration before Sheridan heard of Yellowstone’s
wonders. None of them even mentions any talk with Sheridan about it. He
was in Helena in May, 1870. Langford says he had seen General Hancock in
St. Paul in the spring of 1870 and Hauser had had a conference with Hancock
about the same time and Hancock had given assurances of an escort if needed;
that their plans took definite shape about August 1 and that Washburn and
Hauser joined in a wire to Hancock about that time. In forwarding the
Doane report to Washington, General Hancock says that August 14, 1870,
H. D. Washburn, surveyor general of Montana, had asked an escort and he
had directed the escort be furnished and *that an officer be sent with it who
could make a report of the trip, as well as a map of the country passed over.”
Doane’s special orders, dated August 21, 1870, set forth in his report, simply
instruct him to * escort the surveyor general of Montana to the falls and Lakes
of the Yellowstone and return.”

Hayden, in 1871, says he was armed with orders from the Secretary of War
upon the military posts of the West for such assistance as could be afforded
without detriment. The Hayden exploration was planned before Sheridan re-
turned from Europe and was leaving Ogden about June 1, to secure their
escort at Fort Ellis. General Sheridan issued orders June 26, 1871, to the com-
manding officer at Fort Ellis to furnish Barlow equipment as he *“has been
directed to proceed to the headwaters of the Yellowstone.” It is said to be
“ Captain Barlow’s intention to accompany the expedition of Professor Hayden,
taking advantage of the escort ordered for him,” but he is to have a small
detail under his own direction,
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The scope of the Barlow report was necessarily very lmited in its
scientific features as compared with the Hayden, and the failure to mention
the Hayden exploration was at least naive on the part of Sheridan, quite in
keeping with more modern military tactics.

Sheridan did not carry his memeirs beyond his return from Europe in 1871
because of the progress of his last illness, but in 1902 a second edition was
issued which included a sketch of his later years by his brother, Gen. Michael
V. Sheridan, who had been closely associated with him during his greater
years. In that skeich the following appears:

*“ General Sheridan (1883) was particularly gratified with what the journey
had accomplished toward benefiting the park, gaining for its future protection
not only the good will of his influential guests, but interesting the public
in its preservation to such a degree that it became comparatively easy to
induce Congress to safeguard it from speculators and plunderers. This was a
consummation to which Sheridan had looked forward since 1869 when, in
consequence of his assigument to the command of the division of the Missouri,
he had become practically its guardian. At that time he had assumed a
responsibility for the wonderful region, though as yet there existed only vague
rumors concerning its characteristics. The Indians knew little or nothing
about it. They looked on the ¢ Firehole’ with all the suspicion of their super-
stitious nature and gave it wide berth, while the misty tales of Bridger and
other trappers were considered as gross exaggerations, if not wholly unreliable.
In order to secure definite information Sheridan sent Lieut. G. C. Doane, of
the Second Cavalry, from Fort Ellis to make an exploration and report on
the region. Doane’s party was small and his equipment incomplete, but his
graphic descriptions of what he saw were so surprising that many, unacquainted
with his trustworthy character, thought his stories Munchausenisms. Yet his
narrative actually fell short of the reality, as demonstrated a little later by a
well-equipped expedition sent by Sheridan under Col. J. W. Barlow of the
Engineers. Colonel Barlow made accurate surveys, measured and photographed
the geysers, the Grand Canyon, and in fact all the extraordinary freaks of
nature in the strange land, and accompanied them with an accurate scientific
report that could not be questioned. The information gathered by these two
explorations awakened in the mind of Sheridan and others the idea of reserving
this wonderland as a public park, not only to prevent its passing into the
hands of private owners who might extort excessive fees from visitors, but
that it should become a great preserve for big game in the Rocky Mountains.
While he was not alone in this undertaking, it was largely through Sheridan’s
personal efforts that Congress created the Yellowstone National Park, and
from time to time passed appropriations for its care, and laws to prevent
its desecration.”

See page 550 et seq. Volume II, second edition, Sheridan’s Memoirs.

Sheridan had so nearly nothing to do with the creation of the park and so
much to do with the protection and preservation of it that it is regrettable
that his hasty biographer grossly overstated the one and ignored the other.
His connection with its creation was confined to granting of military escorts
which General Hancock in 1870 and the Secretary of War in 1871 had assured
and the ordering of the Barlow expedition which never interested anyone but
the Army very materially. But without his interest and championing from
1875 and for 10 years thereafter the whole national park story might have
been much different.
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MANY CONTRIBUTED

Clearly Folsom’s suggestion to Washburn was the first recorded idea of a
reservation of the Yellowstone area for public benefit and his article in the
Western Monthly of July, 1870, was the first publication of report of Yellow-
stone exploration; the Hedges proposal at the campfire of the Washburn party
put in train of action the movement to secure such reservation and his letter
of November 9, 1870, in the Helena Herald was the first publication of the
idea; Langford early became the enthusiast who by writings, lectures, and
personal effort actively promoted the project; the Washburn expedition
reports aroused national interest in the area; the Hayden expedition fully
gatisfied all public questions and solidified and extended national interest;
the personal and official contacts of Hayden, fully supported by the Interior
Department in the winter 1871-72 had great influence with Congress, he was
admittedly consulted in the drafting of the legislation, and his reports were
chiefly relied upon by members and committees of Congress; after his election,
Clagett became committed, had a part in drafting the bill, wrote out in his
own hand the copy introduced by him in the House; Senater Pomeroy pro-
ceeded in the Senate with zeal, supported on the floor by Senators Trumbull,
Edmunds, and Anthony (three powerful leaders) and no doubt in close contact
with Walter Trumbull, the Senate committee clerk, so that the bill promptly
passed the Senate; Representative Dawes, interested in the region, who as
chairman of the appropriations committee had made possible in the winter of
1870-71 the appropriation for the Hayden expedition of which his son. seems to
have been a member, was in closest contact with results of that expedition
and interested in the park creation, a most experienced legislator of outstand-
ing influence, while his hand may not have written down the words, he un-
doubtedly shaped the lines of the draft and was the power behind the scenes
that made things move; Sheridan in May, 1870, was intrigued by tales of the
area and sympathetic with proposals for exploration and from the time of his
own personal contact with it a powerful champion of its preservation and
protection, the witness whose words were cited in Congress during the critical
years with greatest effect; and Vest was the persistent senatorial champion,
without whese interest and leadership private interests would have had their
way. These men all are entitled to all the credit that broad and farseeing
vision, devotion to the public interest and effective action, each in his own
sphere, can ever bring to any men. And the list of other men, each of whom,
in lesser but important extent, have contributed to the full success of this
first great national park experiment is long. Some of the congressional friends
are noted elsewhbere (p. 52).

LATER YELLOWSTONE EXPEDITIONS

The summer of 1872 Professor Hayden made his second expedition into
the Yellowstone Park country. He had with him as his guest Nathaniel P.
Langford, who had been appointed the first Yellowstone Park superintendent.
He reports the trip in hig first annual report of 1872,

Gen. John Gibbon explored the park also in 1872.

In 1873 Capt. W. A. Jones, accompanied by Prof. Theodore B. Comstock
made & “reconnaissance of northwest Wyoming.” 'Their report, including
considerable scientific material, was published as House Executive Document
285 of the Forty-third Congress, first session. This party discovered the
Togwotee Pass into Wyoming.
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In 1875 Col. William Ludlow made a reconnaissance and was acompanied
by George Bird Grinnell, who later, as editor of Forest and Stream, played
80 large a part in Yellowstone Park matters. In thig report, published by the
‘War Department, Grinnell calls attention to the “reckless destruction of
animals in the park’ He states that in the winter of 1874-75 3.000 elk were
killed for their hides in the Valley of the Yellowstone between the mouth of
Trail Creek and the Hot Springs. In the same report Colonel Ludlow
mentions the lack of adequate police force in the park and said (p. 36):
“ Recourse can most readily be had to the already existing facilities afforded
by the presence of troops in the vicinity and by the transfer of the park to
the control of the War Department.” ’

The same year Secretary of War Belknap made a tour of the park, guided
by Iieutenant Doane. He was accompanied by Gen. W. B. Strong, who has
written the story of the expedition.

In 1877 Gen. P. H. Sheridan and Gen. W. T. Sherman made an inspection
“of the country north of the Union Pacific Railroad.” In his report General
Sheridan refers to their visit to “ two new military posts in the Yellowstone and
Big Horn Valleys in the heart of the hostile Sioux country.” The Sheridan
report includes a report by Lieut. W. L. Carpenter on the geology and natural
history of the Big Horn Mountains and a report on the botanical features of
the Big Horn Mountains by Assistant Surgeon J. H. Patski.

The Sherman report consists of a series of letters by General Sherman to
Secretary of War McCrary. His letter of August 19, 1877, from Fort Ellis
tells of his Yellowstone Park trip, and his descriptions are interesting. He
says this of his climb of Mount Washburn:

“Any man standing on Mount Washburn feels as though the whole world
were below him. The view is simply sublime; worth the labor of reaching it
once but not fwice.” (Emphasis by Gen. Sherman.)

He further says:

“We saw no signs of Indians and felt at no moment more sense of
danger than we do here (Fort Ellis). * * * Some four or five years ago
parties swarmed to the park from curiosity, but now the travel is very slack.”

But as he was leaving the park he met the parties that later encountered the
hostile Nez Perce, the last Indian trouble in the park area. The Sherman
report also carries the diary of Gen. O. M. Poe, which includes his story of the
Yellowstone trip and a brief description of the Yellowstone Park region.

Secretary of the Interior Carl Schurz, accompanied by General Crook, made
an extended tour of the park in 1880.

In 1881 the park had its first visit from a President of the United States,
although his service as President came later. Senator Benjamin Harrison, who
served as President from 1889 to 1893, visited the park.

In the same year, 1881, Capt. W. 8. Stanton made his reconnaissance for the
War Department, and Hon. John W. Hoyt, Governor of Wyoming, with a large
escort, made his wagon road reconnaissance,

Lieut, Gen. P. H. Sheridan in 1881 made an exploration “through the Big
Horn Mountains, Yellowstone National Park, ete.” His report was dated
September 20, 1881, and as published includes the reports of Lieut. Col. J. F.
Gregory, Surg. W. H. Forwood, and Capt. 8. C. Kellogg. On page 9 of his report
he says that $15,000 a year is not enough for the park. “A larger appropriation
should be given by Congress and an engineer officer should be detailed to
expend it on improvement of the trails and roads, with a company or two of
cavalry to be stationed in the park for the summer to wateh and prevent the
burning of forests and the mutilation of the great craters and other similar
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phenomena of the geysers.” Forwood presenis a report on the flora of the
park,

In 1883 President Arthur, with the Secretary of War, Senator Vest, and
others, visited the park, the first President to visit & national park during hig
term of office.

The Arthur party ecame in from Wyoming and saw the Grand Teton region
before reaching Yellowstone Park, The first presidential view of the Grand
Teton region is thus described by Gen. Michael V. Sheridan, brother of Gen.
Phil Sheridan, in his second edition of Sheridan’s Memoirs:

“Of the beauty and grandeur of this scenery Sheridan and his staff were
aware, and they therefore maneuvered that the President and other guests
should reach the summit first. In consequence, the glorious spectacle of the
Teton Basin, from one of the most advantageous points of view, burst on their
gaze with all the added effect of complete surprise. A most beautiful crescent-
shaped valley, which incloses Jacksons Lake, lay before them, fringed on the left
with somber pine-clad mountains, at whose base runs the turbulent Gros
Ventre, and on the right by rugged hills of red clay, broken here and there by
thickly wooded ravines. The valley itself was thickly carpeted with grass and
wild flowers and the course of each of the numerous little brooks that crossed
it was marked with willows and cottonwoods. Along the whole westerly edge
of the valley, with no intervening foothills to detract, rose to towering height
the Royal Tetons, whose snowy peaks pierce the air 5,000 feet above the ridge
on which the entire party had now assembled, the ridge itself being 8,000 feet
above sea level. Nothing in mountain scenery the world over can surpass this
in beauty and grandeur. It may be doubted if even its equal exists.” (See p.
545, Vol, IL.)

Later Presidents to visit the Yellowstone Park were Roosevelt in 1903, Hard-
ing in 1923, Coolidge in 1927, and Hoover in 1927 while he was Secretary of
Commerce.

ADMINISTRATION OF, LEGISLATION CONCERNING, AND
APPROPRIATIONS FOR YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL
PARK

Although the Yellowstone National Park came into being March 1, 1872, it
was several years before any appropriation was made. Indeed Professor Hay-
den wrote a little later, February 21, 1878, that he had been compelled to give “a
distinct pledge ” that “ he would not apply for an appropriation for several
years at least,” and that, otherwise, passage of the bill would have been very
doubtful. (See his letter in H. Ex. Doc. 75, 45th Cong. 2d sess.)

Mr. T. C. Everts, who won national fame by his “ thirty-seven days of peril”
in the Washburn party of 1870, was in Washington at the time the bill became
law, and for several weeks thereafter, and seems to have been a candidate for
superintendent of the park. So it was stated in an item from the Missouri
Democrat quoted by the Helena Herald, April 13, 1872, The Washington cor-
respondent of the Helena Herald, in a letter published in that paper April 19,
1872, says that Everts was stopping in Washington at the National Hotel and
that when the national park bill became law many Congressmen and others in-
dorsed him for superintendent of the park “ but it would appear that this fact is
likely to defer the asking of an appropriation to make the place acceptable.”

It further appears in the Herald of May 3, 1872, that Everts was a delegate
to the Liberal Republican Convention at Cincinnati, “a round about way, to



38 EARLY HISTORY OF YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK

our thinking, for friend Everts to reach the superintendency of the national
park.”

In letter of May 10, 1872, Langford was appointed superintendent, without
salary (see Langford, First Annual Report) and accepted in the following
letter dated May 20, 1872, the original being now in the National Park Service
file:

“I have been advised here, of my appointment as superintendent of the
Yellowstone Park, and shall make immediate preparations for a thorough ex-
ploration of it. A number of parties have expressed a desire to put up small
hotels for the accommodation of visitors, and it will be desirable to grant
leases for this purpose to two or three persons, or at least, to one, Until a sur-
vey of the park is made by me, and my report submitted, I do not think it best
to grant many leases for hotels, ete.,, nor these for a long time; but at least
one stopping place for tourists should be put up this year.

“I am informed that a toll-road company has graded a few steep hills on
the line of travel, and are charging exorbitant rates of toll, without authority
of law. I should have authority to regulate this matter, and to prevent imposi-
tion upon visitors.

“Will you therefore, communicate with me at Helena, Mont., advising me
what power my appointment gives me, and authorizing me to make all necessary
regulations for the building of one public house, or more if needed, and gen-
erally, for the protection of the rights of visitors, and the establishment of such
rules as will conduce to their comfort and pleasure.

“ Whatever authority is given me in this matter will be cautiously exercised,
for little need be done in this behalf the present season.

“P. 8. As I shall be in Helena but a short time, I bespeak an early reply to
this communication.”

This letter was received May 25, 1872, and answered the same day, but the
reply has not been located.

In the spring of 1873 Superintendent Langford appointed D. E. Folsom, of
the 1869 expedition, assistant superintendent, also without salary.

FORTY-SECOND CONGRESS, THIRD SESSION

The next winter, 1872-78, Superintendent Langford was back in Washington
and seeking an appropriation. Delegate Clagett wrote Secretary Delano
February 3, 1873:

“From what I have been able to learn I think that the sum of $15,000 would
certainly make all the improvements in the national park that will be neededl
for some years to come. This amount will make it accessible and travel over
the main routes therein comparatively easy. And the revenues of the park
will probably do the rest. If you should recommend not more than the above
amount I will do my best to secure the appropriation.”

Neither Langford nor Clagett, or the department, seems to have known that
promises had been made that no appropriations would be asked for for several
years as later stated by Hayden.

The first estimates sent to Cougress for protection and improvement of Yel-
lowstone National Park are found in House Executive Document 241, Forty-
second Congress, third session. Therein under date of February 20, 1873, Act-
ing Secretary Cowen asks for an appropriation of $15,000 “ for the purpose of
opening up said park to the public by the construction of wagon roads within
its boundaries.” Included in this document is supporting letter of February 3,
1873, from Superintendent Langford. No appropriation was made,
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FORTY-THIRD CONGRESS, FIRST SESSION

November 14, 1873, H. R. Horr, whose claim is elsewhere referred to, wrote
the Secretary of the Interior that several parties were killing elk and deer,
taking only the tongues and skins. He suggested that Jack Baronette, “ now
residing near his bridge ” be authorized to act in the premises. “ Besides my-
self,” he wrote, “ he is the only one who will hibernate in this national domain.”

September 26, 1873, Governor Campbell of Wyoming and November 27, 1873,
Governor Potts of Montana wrote the Secretary urging an appropriation for
survey of park boundaries. Potts also urged “a liberal appropriation to em-
ploy a resident superintendent of the park, and make such roads as are neces-
sary, and preserve from spoliation the numberless curiosities of that wonderful
region.”

November 7, 1873, Superintendent Langford urged appropriations and pro-
tection, and November 14, 1873, Professor Hayden presented a plan for im-
provement and protection, December 9, 1873, people living near the line of the
Yellowstone National Park petitioned for an appropriation for its manage-
ment and that a committee of Congress be appointed to visit the park the
coming year, this petition being included in House Hxecutive Document 147,
Forty-third Congress, first session.

Early in 1874 one Knut Forsberg, a landscape architect, presented to the
Secretary an “estimate upon the survey of thie national park” amounting to
$132,000, a copy of which accompanies this report. This bizarre conception of
the scope and purpose of the park must have impressed the Interior Department
since it was transmitted by the Secretary February 12, 1874, along with eriti-
cism thereof by Hayden, to Hon. James A, Garfield, chairman of the House Com-
mittee on Appropriations. Garfield promptly replied, February 13, that the
Forsherg scheme was wholly beyond “the range of improvements that the
Government might undertake,” but that he had no doubt something should be
done to preserve the property from spoliation. Copies of the Hayden and Gar-
field letters and the Forsberg estimate are in the files of the Naticnal Park
Service. The department letter of February 12 can not be found.

Very promptly, as suggested by Garfield, February 17, 1874, Secretary Delano
sent to Congress an estimate for an appropriation of $100,000 for park purposes
and a draft of a bill for legislation. He accompanies this request with letters
of November 7, 1873, and February 6, 1874, from Superintendent Langford,
who states that 500 persons had visited the park the previous season. His re-
quest is also supported by letters from Governor Potts, of Montana, Governor

Campbell, of Wyoming, and Professor Hayden, and & petition from citizens of”

Bozeman above referred to. (See H. Bx. Doc, 147, 43d Cong., 1st sess.)

This bill was introduced in the House by Delegate Maginnis, H. R. 2177, and
in the Senate by Senator Windom, S. 581. The latter was favorably reported
by Senate Committee on Territories, the amount being cut to $25,000. Sub-
stitute for the House bill was drafted by the committee but not reported. Again
no appropriation resulted.

FORTY-THIRD CONGRESS, SECOND SESSION

At the next session the Secretary asked Congress, December 8, 1874, for
$100,000, supporting his request with letter of September 7, 1874, from Super-
intendent Langford. (H. Ex. Doc. 20, 43d Cong., 2d sess.) Again no appro-
priation.

December 15, 1874, the Secretary of War made a favorahle report on H. R.

2854 for “a military ‘wagon road from Green River, Wyo, to 'the park and’
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Fort Ellis ” and quotes letter of November 28 from General Sheridan. In this
letter Sheridan states that although he did not favor the road when for-
warding the Jones report in 1873, he had since that time had opportunity to
make a personal examination of the road through te Camp Brown, Wyo., and
bhe recommends the road going to the pass at the head of Wind River Valley,
to Yellowstone Lake, passing Great Falls, and along the crest of the Grand

Canyon, past Mammoth Hot Springs and to Fort Ellis, Bozeman, and the

Crow Agency.

The first recorded attempt on the floor of Congress to secure an appropria-
tion for the improvement of Yellowstone National Park was March 1, 1875.
Representative Dunnell, of Minnesota, who had reported the original Yellow-
stone Park bill to the House in 1872, that day offered an amendment to the
sundry civil appropriation bill for the fiscal year 1876 to appropriate $25,000
for the construction of public roads within the park, the survey of its bound-
arles and such other purposes as were deemed necessary by the Secretary of
the Interior. The amendment was defeated. Chairman Garfield opposed it as
“ too early.”

FORTY-FOURTH CONGRESS, FIRST SESSION

August 28, 1875, Superintendent Langford writes the Secretary urging
$100,000 for surveys, roads, ete. Delegate Maginnis, who had defeated Clagett
in 1873, and who had in 1872 editorially questioned the value of the park to
Montana, indorsed the Langford letter August 31, 1875, with his hearty
approval. He wrote: .

“From members of Secretary Belknap’s party who came down recently 1
learn that the spoliations in the park are great. There is at present no way
of checking them. Several of the geysers are now nearly ruined and the
Government should take some action to preserve these wonderful and beautiful
curiosities before it is too late.”

June 1, 1878, the House Committee on Military Affairs favorably reported
H. R. 180 for the Green River-Park-Fort Ellis military road at $50,000;

APPOINTMENT OF NORRIS

April 13, 1877, P. W. Norris of Michigan applied for appointment as superin-
tendent of the park. He presented indorsements from Governor Croswell of
Michigan, Chief Justice Morrison R. Waite, and others. He was appointed
April 18, 1877, his pay being subject to appropriations. He eventually presented
a claim for $3,180.41 for salary and expenses, which was appropriated for in

the sundry civil act of August 7, 1882, (See H. Ex. Doc. 85, 47th Cong., 1st ‘

8e8s. )
FORTY-FIFTH CONGRESS, SECOND SESSION

March 11, 1878, Representative Alpheus Williams of Detroit, Mich., intro-
duced H. R. 3783, to provide an appropriation for protection and improvement